### LOYOLA UNIVERSITY CHICAGO

# IDENTIFYING FACTORS THAT AFFECT SAUDI NURSES' INTENTIONS TO REPORT MEDICATION ERRORS IN ARAR HOSPITALS

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

PROGRAM IN NURSING

BY

OHOUD NAIF ALDUGHMI

CHICAGO, IL

DECEMBER 2023

Copyright by Ohoud Aldughmi, 2023 All rights reserved.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to offer my special thanks to my entire dissertation committee for their invaluable support and feedback. I would also like to extend my deepest gratitude to my dissertation chair, Dr. Bobay, for her constructive feedback and moral support.

I'm extremely grateful for the completion of my dissertation, which would not have been possible without the emotional support and nurturing of my loving husband. He makes me not feel guilty about not being ablet to be with my kids. Lastly, the most heartfelt acknowledgment goes to my parents and children. Their belief in me has kept my spirits high and motivated me during this journey.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
ABSTRACT	ix
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
Background of the Problem	2
Problem Statement	9
Significance of the Study	10
Purpose of the Study	13
Summary	13
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	15
Psychological Safety	16
The Theory of Planned Behavior	26
Links between Psychological Safety and Intentions	34
Proposed Theoretical Model	36
Healthcare System in Saudi Arabia	39
Saudi Patient Safety Initiatives	40
Errors Reporting in Saudi Arabia	41
Psychological Safety and Reporting Errors	46
Research Gaps	49
Summary	50
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHOD	51
Research Design	51
Population and Sample	51
Data Collection	52
Measures	53
Theory of Planned Behavior Questionnaire	54
Behavioral Intentions	55
Attitudes toward behavior	55
Subjective Norms	56
Perceived Benavioral Control	56
Psychological Safety Scale	57
i sychological ballety beale	00

Data Analysis	63
Research Questions and Hypotheses	64
Ethical Consideration	66
Summary	66
CHAPTER FOUR RESULTS	68
Data Prenaration Procedure	68
Participants' Characteristics	71
Descriptive Statistics	72
Internal Consistency	72 74
Research Questions	75
Evaluation of the Study Models	79
Summary	80
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	82
Theory of Perceived Behavior Constructs	83
Intention to Report Medication Errors	83
Attitude Toward Behavior	83
Subjective Norms	84
Perceived Behavioral Control	84
Correlation among Constructs of Theory of Planned Behavior	85
Correlation between the Theory of Planned Behavior Constructs	
and Psychological Safety	85
Predicting Intention to Report Medication Errors	86
Psychological Safety	89
Moderation Analysis	91
Reliability Results	93
Strengths and Limitations	95
Implications for Nursing and Future Research	96
Implications for Nursing Practice	96
Implications for Nursing Research	96
Implications for Nursing Education	98
Summary	99
APPENDIX A: PARTICIPANT INVITATION LETTER	100
APPENDIX B: THEORY PLANNED BEHAVIOR QUESTIONNAIRE	102
APPENDIX C: PSYCHOLOGICAL SAFETY SCALE	107
APPENDIX D: NORMALITY ASSUMPTIONS	109
REFERENCE LIST	114

VITA

129

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Skewness and Kurtosis Results	70
Table 2. Demographic Characteristics of Sample	71
Table 3. TPB Predictors and Psychological Safety Range, Mean,and Standard Deviation Results	73
Table 4. Correlations between TPB Constructs and Psychological Safety	74
Table 5. Evaluation of the Study Models	80

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Theory of planned behavior Figure	28
Figure 2. The Proposed Theoretical Model Figure	39
Figure 3. Hypothesized Moderated Model Figure	66
Figure 4. Normality Assumption	108
Figure 5. Scatterplots for Intention and TPB Constructs and Psychological Safety	109
Figure 6. Residual Scatter Plot for Homoscedasticity Assumption	111

#### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Medication errors are common health safety issues in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA). To avoid medication errors, Saudi hospitals need to identify the causes of such errors and encourage nurses to report them. Currently, most Saudi nurses do not report errors due to the Saudi blaming culture and fear of reprisal. Therefore, Saudi nurses need a psychologically safe environment that encourages them to admit and report errors. Identifying Saudi nurses' perceptions, attitudes, norms, behaviors, and intentions regarding reporting medication errors will help Saudi healthcare organizations to support and encourage a reporting culture.

**Purpose:** The purpose of this study is to identify factors that affect the intention of Saudi nurses to report medication errors.

**Method:** A quantitative cross-sectional online survey method was used for this study. The study population is Saudi registered nurses who were working at the time of the study in medical, surgical, and intensive care units at Prince Abdulaziz Bin Musaad Hospital and North Medical Tower in the city of Arar in the KSA. The survey used in this study includes a theory of planned behavior questionnaire, a psychological safety scale, and demographic questions. The data analysis employed descriptive statistics, Pearson correlation coefficients, and hierarchical multiple linear regression to assess significant predictors of reporting medication errors. Internal consistency reliability was tested for the scales **Results:** The results of this study confirm that Saudi nurses in two Arar hospitals have moderate intentions to report medication errors. The findings demonstrate that the theory of planned behavior constructs (attitude toward behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control) are significant predictors to explain Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors. Psychological safety was not found to be a significant predictor in isolation, but it became a statistically significant predictor after interaction terms were added to the model. The interaction between attitude toward behavior and psychological safety was found to be negative and significant, but the interaction between subjective norms and psychological safety was found to be positive. The results indicated that the TPB survey had good reliability and internal consistency.

**Conclusions:** The findings of this study may suggest that subjective norms and attitude toward behavior are factors that should be assessed before implementing improvement interventions for reporting medication errors. However, further research with larger samples and various groups is necessary to determine significant predictors of Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors.

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### INTRODUCTION

One of the main goals of healthcare organizations is to provide high-quality and safe patient care. Therefore, many countries try to improve their patient safety levels to attain a high level of healthcare for their citizens (Mahrous, 2018). The World Health Organization (WHO) defines patient safety as "a healthcare discipline that emerged with the evolving complexity in healthcare systems and the resulting rise of patient harm in healthcare facilities." WHO (2019) states that patient safety focuses on preventing and reducing errors, risks, adverse events, and injuries that may occur during the provision of healthcare. The need to provide safe care has increased due to the existence of unsafe care, which covers a broad spectrum of issues experienced by both patients and healthcare organizations. According to WHO (2019), every year 134 million adverse events and 2.6 million deaths occur due to unsafe care and errors. An 'adverse event' is one of several patient safety concerns that many healthcare organizations face and is defined as an injury that occurs due to medical intervention and is unrelated to the patient's condition (Institute of Medicine, 2000). Adverse events are among the top ten causes of death and disability worldwide, and 50% of these events are preventable (WHO, 2019). Further, according to Mansouri et al. (2019), medication errors are among the most common examples of adverse events. The Institute of Medicine (IOM), in its publication To Err is Human, defines 'error' as the failure of designed action to be accomplished as intended.

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA) is one of the countries that experiences high rates of medication errors by nurses and is the location focus of this study.

#### **Background of the Problem**

The lack of patient safety practices globally has resulted in hospitals spending 15% of their total capital expenditure on patient safety (WHO, 2019). These expenses are related to treating safety-related failures, which include adverse events such as medication errors. The National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention (2020) defines 'medication error' as any preventable event that could cause unsuitable medication use or harm to patients and involves factors such as usage, packaging, prescribing, product labeling, dispensing distribution, administration, education, and monitoring. In addition, Lee et al.'s (2019) literature review found medication errors to be the most common outcome of poor patient care. Most hospitals worldwide have a high level of preventable medication errors that are costly. For example, the cost of medication errors in the National Health Service of the United Kingdom is around £1.1 billion annually (Alsulami et al., 2019). According to Almalki et al. (2021), approximately US \$42 billion is the yearly cost of medication errors. This money can be used to improve the quality of care that leads to fewer medication errors occur.

Medication errors not only are expensive in the long run and compromise patient safety, but they also diminish confidence in the ability of a healthcare organization to provide adequate care. Medication errors cause patients and healthcare providers to lose trust in the healthcare system (IOM, 2000). In the KSA, in every ten patients is injured while receiving care in hospitals (WHO, 2019). Furthermore, Alshammari et al. (2022) reported that medication errors are the most preventable cause of patient harm. Ibrahim et al. (2019) also stated that 50% to 80% of medical errors can be prevented. Therefore, to improve patient safety and maintain public confidence in their ability to provide safe care, healthcare organizations need to decrease their medication error rate (Mahmoud et al., 2020). However, medication errors are still a common occurrence in Saudi hospitals that cause a particular threat to the Saudi healthcare system and patient safety.

Medication errors are the most common type of under-reported medical errors in Saudi hospitals (Alshammari et al., 2021). Almalki et al. (2021) reported that the rate of medication errors in Saudi hospitals is approximately 44%, confirming that medication errors are among the leading safety concerns in Saudi healthcare. Alsulami et al. (2019) found that medication errors constitute two-fifths of all errors encountered in the KSA, and Ali et al. (2017) reported that more than two-thirds of medication errors are preventable. Bashaireh et al. (2019) also found that medication errors are the most preventable and frequent adverse events within Saudi healthcare organizations. According to Alshammari et al. (2022), 71,332 medication error cases were reported by 265 Saudi hospitals between March 2018 and June 2019. These results demonstrate that the Saudi healthcare system needs to pay closer attention to the prevention of medication errors given their significant and negative effect on the overall Saudi healthcare system.

The medication errors that occur in the Saudi healthcare system have direct and indirect impacts. The primary direct impact of medication errors is patient harm or even death. Indirect impacts include increased medical expenses, higher mortality rates, and an increased length of hospital stay (Alsulami et al., 2019). Another indirect, but important, impact of medication errors is harm to nurses, because nurses may not trust their organization's efforts to improve patient safety.

Furthermore, healthcare providers who are involved in or responsible for such errors can experience feelings of worry, guilt, blame, anxiety, or depression (AlReshidi, 2020). As a result, some healthcare providers may choose to conceal their feelings and not report their errors, which can contribute to further errors and negative patient outcomes. Thus, healthcare organizations should consider nurses as secondary victims of medication errors.

Nurses have crucial roles in preventing medication errors. Therefore, it is important to make sure that they have good work conditions to be able to take care of their patients. Nurses are considered a major workforce in the healthcare industry and essential contributors to the improvement of patient safety and quality of care (Lee et al., 2018; Mahrous, 2018). Nurses' direct interactions with patients make them uniquely qualified to care for them, possibly more so than other providers. In addition, nurses are trustworthy sources of information to measure patient outcomes in order to improve safety and quality of care (Lee et al., 2018). Nurses also bear significant responsibility for reporting errors. Although nurses do not make medication errors on purpose, the occurrence of unanticipated errors can lead to patient injury or harm. Nurses' perceptions of their work environment are influenced by their performance in patient safety activities (Tondo & Guirardello, 2017), and therefore, such perceptions are important to understand if patient safety is to be improved.

Not all medication errors occur due to nurses' mistakes only but also because of systems' flaws. Medical errors occur in organizations that are ineffectively designed to catch such mistakes in time (Bokhari, 2019). In addition, because healthcare organizations are complex environments, the likelihood of error is high, and in order to avoid medication errors, the causes must be identified. The complexity of the hospital workplace can negatively impact patient safety because unanticipated complications and unintentional errors are inherent of the medical system due to the general nature of human fallibility and technology (Ozeke et al., 2019). Medication errors occur in Saudi hospitals due to many factors, including environmental and systemic factors. Ibrahim et al. (2019) found that 75% of adverse events occur because of systemic organizational factors, not because of individual error. Several studies have demonstrated that heavy workloads, insufficient staffing, fear of negative reactions, and unclear reporting processes are the most common barriers to medication error reporting among Saudi nurses (Dyab et al., 2018; Samsiah et al., 2020; Yousef et al., 2021). These findings suggest that healthcare organizations should concentrate more on systemic failures that lead to errors than on human error in order to improve patient safety and care.

Regardless of the attempts by Saudi healthcare organizations to decrease medication errors (such as establishing reporting system), serious errors continue to occur. One problem with the Saudi healthcare system is that it is insufficiently proactive. Hospital management pays attention to an adverse event only after it occurs in most Saudi healthcare organizations (Bokhari, 2019), which indicates a lack of preparedness and error prevention policies. Al Wahabi et al. (2017) found that 91.6% of adverse events can be managed and prevented. By encouraging nurses to adhere to medication administration guidelines and report errors, healthcare organizations can identify potential sources of errors and prevent their occurrence. Yousef et al. (2021) stated that, to achieve better patient outcomes and optimal patient care, medication errors should be identified and reported, which can be accomplished by preventing repeated errors in the future and understanding underlying contributing factors.

Reporting medication errors, therefore, is an important component of ensuring patient safety (Alyami et al., 2022). Hammoudi et al. (2018) showed that 70% of errors recur because they are not reported. Al Khreem and Al-khadher (2021) found that 95.8% of Saudi nurses failed

to report medication errors due to fear of consequences such as blaming and disciplinary action. Although the failure to report medication errors can hinder the development of strategies to prevent such errors (Samsiah et al., 2020), reporting errors can help discover hidden organizational flaws and potential causes for errors. Determining the various types of errors that occur can lead to protecting patient safety, which contributes to increased quality care (Mansouri et al., 2019). Therefore, Saudi hospitals should support a reporting culture and encourage nurses to report errors without fear of negative consequences.

Establishing a good error reporting system is helpful, but it cannot be the only step that healthcare organizations should take to reduce medication errors. According to Dyab et al. (2018), the effectiveness of a medication error reporting system is based on the system's ability to report the occurrence. Thus, the accuracy of the reporting system is extremely important in preventing medication error (Al Khreem & Al-khadher, 2021). In addition, establishing guidelines for medication error reporting is not always sufficient because healthcare providers themselves have a significant role in the medication error reporting process (Dyab et al., 2018). That is, if nurses do not report their errors or under-report their errors, then healthcare organizations cannot determine the causes of the errors. Nurses have a significant role in the medication error reporting process. Their perceptions, attitudes, and perceived barriers toward medication error reporting are also significant factors in the success or failure of error reporting systems (Dyab et al., 2018). A useful method to increase reporting rates is to assess nurses' attitudes toward reporting medication errors, because a negative attitude towards reporting decreases the likelihood of reporting (Archer et al., 2017; Korhan et al., 2017; Natan et al., 2017) and vice versa. For example, when nurses believe that their error could cause patients to lose their life, they will be more likely to report the error. Understanding the factors that impact the

intention of nurses to report medication errors will help healthcare organizations improve their reporting system.

Nurses currently face many obstacles when deciding whether to report medication errors within Saudi healthcare organizations. Blaming and shaming are dominant cultural norms in Saudi healthcare organizations, and this type of environment can be detrimental to achieving a high quality of care (Bokhari, 2019). Hamed and Konstantinidis (2022) found that such a culture of blame in organizations leads to lower reporting rates. Healthcare organizations have attempted to improve patient safety by blaming and punishing healthcare workers who have committed medical errors (Bokhari, 2019). Nevertheless, medication errors still occur in the Saudi healthcare system, indicating that the punitive approach is not an effective method to prevent these errors (Bokhari, 2019). By taking a punitive approach that blames individuals, organizations do not recognize that many errors are the result of systemic problems within the organization. In order to avoid being blamed for making errors, nurses may ignore and even accept flaws in their organization that could lead to patient harm. The exact number of medication errors that occur in Saudi hospitals is still unknown because of insufficient data collection and reporting systems as well as the fear of lawsuits and punishment (Bokhari, 2019). In short, the Saudi blaming culture is unhealthy and hinders reporting and learning from mistakes, leading instead to under-reporting adverse events and causing harm to patients in the long run.

To improve the culture that surrounds the reporting of errors, the barriers must be identified and removed. Archer et al. (2017) emphasized the importance of recognizing the factors that can impact incident reporting within an organization. In addition to a reporting system, healthcare organizations need to establish a psychologically safe environment that encourages nurses to admit, discuss, and report mistakes rather than ignoring such errors, which can create larger, catastrophic mistakes that negatively affect patient safety. Non-punitive responses to errors, such as recognition of the benefits of learning from mistakes and discussing them with others, are essential for preventing these errors (Zhang et al., 2019). Doucette (2019) confirmed that building psychological safety is an essential component of increasing error reporting. In addition, Aljabari and Kadhim (2021) demonstrated that work environments that provide psychological safety are linked with better reporting of medical errors. Mutair et al. (2021) similarly proposed that one of the recommendations to improve medication error reporting systems in Saudi Arabia is to establish a psychologically safe workplace environment.

Mutair et al. (2021) emphasized that healthcare providers need to feel safe in order to report errors and learn from their mistakes. In a psychologically safe environment, nurses will feel that their voices and opinions are heard, which can lead to a decrease in recurrent errors. Therefore, creating a psychologically safe work environment will assist healthcare organizations in preventing medication errors because nurses will be more likely to report such errors. On the other hand, a punitive environment decreases psychological safety. Munn (2016) suggested that the fear of reporting errors is an indicator of poor psychological safety. Edmondson (2019) likewise stated that fear of reporting is an essential indicator of low levels of psychological safety in the environment. Derickson et al. (2015) found that, in a psychologically unsafe hospital, nurses did not report errors because of fear of potential negative consequences. Lee and Dahinten (2021) also found that psychological safety is associated negatively with withholding opinions. In a punitive work environment, nurses do not feel safe reporting errors or making suggestions that may improve patient care. In such an environment, nurses are more worried about being blamed, punished, and seen as incompetent than about the possible negative

outcomes of their error. In sum, psychological safety is a critical consideration when examining Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors.

#### **Problem Statement**

Medication errors are the most common under-reported adverse events in Saudi healthcare organizations and are indicators of unsafe care provided to Saudi patients. Studies have shown that medication errors negatively impact not only patient safety but also nurses and healthcare organizations. To improve patient safety and decrease medication errors, Saudi healthcare organizations should improve the reporting culture, because not reporting errors is the main hindrance to ensuring patient safety (Mansouri et al., 2019). Previous studies show that Saudi organizations have failed to recognize systemic deficiencies in reporting errors. Thus, Saudi health organizations need to identify nurses' reasons for not reporting errors in order to decrease medication error occurrences.

In order to learn from medication errors to prevent them, Saudi nurses need a safe environment that encourages them to admit and report errors. However, before psychological safety can be established or improved in healthcare organizations, an understanding of the nature of psychological safety is needed (O'Donovan & Mcauliffe, 2020). Currently, no data are available about Saudi nurses' perceptions, attitudes, norms, behaviors, and intentions regarding medication error reporting. Identifying these factors will help in better understanding organizational systemic flaws as well as the role of psychological safety for nurses in reporting errors in Saudi hospitals.

Alshammari et al. (2022) noted that few studies from Saudi Arabia have investigated the reporting of medication errors among healthcare providers. Therefore, little is known about the main drivers of Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors. Also, few studies have

investigated psychological safety in the Saudi healthcare system. This study aims to fill these gaps in the literature and help address these problems.

#### Significance of the Study

Patient safety in the KSA always has been and remains a critical health issue. Saudi healthcare organizations face pressure to prevent errors and improve patient safety due to the associated financial expenses and negative impacts on patients. According to Elmontsri et al. (2017), systems need to be created that increase the likelihood of reducing errors. The organizational environment needs to accept human errors and support learning from errors. By reporting and learning from errors, nurses' knowledge and skills can be continually improved and errors can be used as learning resources. Also, because patient safety is based on continuous learning, the reporting of errors and learning from the errors, accidents, near misses, and adverse events that could be avoided or prevented are critical factors (Elmontsri et al., 2017). Reporting errors helps to create a learning environment in which all errors can be a source of learning in a strong safety culture (IOM, 2004). Given time, such learning and growth will lead to an enhanced system in which errors are reduced. The causes of errors that are enabled by the work environment must be identified in order for such causes to be addressed and eliminated (Korhan et al., 2017). One of the ways to identify the causes of errors is simply to report the error. One significant aspect of this study is that reporting errors assists in providing opportunities to determine and correct errors that could endanger patient safety (Bashaireh, 2019).

Non-punitive approaches to error reporting can contribute to increased rates of error reporting. Albalawi et al. (2020) found that the major barrier to reporting medication errors among Saudi nurses is fear of being blamed. Dyab et al. (2018) confirmed that, in order to facilitate and improve medication error reporting, the blaming culture, which is dominant in

Saudi hospitals, should be eliminated. Not only does the blaming approach as punishment lead to the under-reporting of errors, but it also leads to the subsequent continuation of medication errors. In contrast, creating a psychologically safe environment should encourage nurses to report errors. Al Reshidi (2020) reported that a safe environment leads to an increase in error reporting and decrease in the occurrence of adverse events. Saudi healthcare organizations need to learn from previous errors and mistakes and create a non-punitive environment, because a blame-free environment is essential to providing high-quality and safe care (Ferrer et al., 2018). A safe environment will motivate nurses to report errors because the focus will be on the error, not necessarily on the person who made the error. Also, a psychologically safe environment leads to safer health practices that aim to prevent similar errors from occurring in the future (Alsulami, 2019). Therefore, another significant aspect of this study is that it highlights the need to mitigate the blaming culture and establish psychological safety in the KSA's hospitals to encourage error reporting.

According to Ganesan et al. (2017), understanding the causal factors of under-reporting errors will help to establish methods to develop or improve a reporting culture. Yousef et al. (2021) found that many factors are related to the under-reporting of medication errors, including individual fear of reporting errors and embarrassment caused by colleagues' reactions to making an error. When healthcare providers feel fear of job termination and punishment, the under-reporting of medication error practices increases (Ali et al., 2017). Lee et al. (2016) identified factors that impact individuals' intention to report, including fear of punishment, peer pressure, and an unsupportive work environment. Determining and addressing such factors will help to develop administrative and individual steps that will lead to an increase in reporting and a decrease in the number of errors, and will improve patient outcomes (Alyami et al., 2022). By

addressing the nurses' intentions to report medication errors, hospitals can improve or change their reporting system in order to increase the medication error reporting rate among nurses. A significant aspect of this study is that enhanced patient safety can be achieved by formulating and implementing suitable medication error reporting policies (Alyami et al., 2022).

Understanding nurses' behaviors and perceptions also can play a vital role in decreasing medication errors. Yousef et al. (2021) emphasized that understanding healthcare providers' behaviors is the first step to avoiding the recurrence of the same errors in the future. In addition, nurses' perceptions and attitudes can influence the establishment of a safe patient environment because nurses have regular and current awareness of the factors that can lead to harm to patients (Maher et al., 2019). Nurses are likely to be the first to notice safety issues in their organizations (Lee et al., 2019). By identifying nurses' intentions, norms, attitudes, and controllability regarding an organization's reporting medication errors, the organization can strengthen positive norms and attitudes toward reporting and change negative norms and attitudes to decrease medication error occurrences. The organization can also remove the potential barriers to reporting errors among nurses. In this study, the theory of planned behavior (TPB) and its constructs (attitude toward behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control) were used to assess Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors. By assessing nurses' intentions, norms, and attitudes related to patient safety-related behaviors, healthcare organizations have the opportunity to prevent and learn from the errors.

In sum, reporting errors is necessary to warn healthcare professionals about patient safety risks (Ko & Yu, 2017). In order to build a safe work environment, nurses should be encouraged to report, admit, and discuss errors without having to consider threats they may face as a consequence. Thus, understanding Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors can help

to build suitable plans and programs to improve reporting practices and policies. Addressing the factors that impact medication error reporting can lead to the development of appropriate managerial and individual strategies to increase reporting rates. A first step to developing interventions and policies is to assess the current state of psychological safety in the facility (Hunt et al., 2021). A significant attribute of this study is identifying relationships between psychological safety and each of the TPB constructs to investigate Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors. The results of this study will contribute to the science of nursing and bring psychological safety to the attention of Saudi leaders. Ultimately, the results will advance reporting practices and improve patient care and safety.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study is to identify the factors that affect the intention of Saudi nurses to report medication errors. This study will investigate the contributions of the TPB constructs and concept of psychological safety to the prediction of Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors. The study also will examine the relationships between psychological safety and each of the TPB constructs. The specific aims of the study are to:

Aim 1: Predict Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors.

Aim 2: Determine the contribution of the TPB constructs toward the prediction of the intention of Saudi nurses to report medication errors.

Aim 3: Determine if the psychological safety construct contributes toward the prediction of Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors.

#### Summary

The most common patient safety issue within Saudi healthcare settings is medication errors. Reporting such errors contributes to reducing them. A psychologically safe work environment leads to the promotion of a reporting culture among nurses. Previous studies show that nurses' intentions, and attitudes toward reporting medication errors, their norms, and evaluations of their ability and controllability over reporting medication errors should be taken into consideration in the context of error reporting.

The remainder of the dissertation is structured as follows. Chapter 2 provides a literature review and includes discussion of the psychological safety concept and the TPB and its constructs as well as a description of the Saudi healthcare system. Chapter 3 describes the methodology used for this study and Chapter 4 provides discussion of the results. Chapter 5 concludes the dissertation with a summary of the study's main components, strengths and limitations, and implications for future research.

#### CHAPTER TWO

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

This literature review focuses on studies that support the identification of factors that relate to nurses' intentions to report medication errors. This chapter provides a synthesis of the literature on the concept of psychological safety as well as the Theory Planned of Behavior (TPB), and their relationships to nurses' error reporting. The studies reviewed help to gain a clear definition of psychological safety, including its antecedents, mediators, and outcomes, and to investigate psychological safety at the individual, group, and organizational levels as well as related concepts. This literature review looks specifically at psychological safety in healthcare settings and nursing education. In order to predict and explain Saudi nurses' intentions to engage in safety activities and report medication errors, the TPB is described in terms of its use in the literature. The literature review includes descriptions of the Saudi healthcare system and Saudi quality improvement initiatives as well as incident reporting and barriers within the Saudi healthcare system. The review also addresses advantages associated with reporting errors and strategies that have been used to improve reporting. In this regard, this literature review covers the benefits and impacts of psychological safety on nurses' behavior, intentions, and attitudes toward reporting errors. Also, key gaps in the literature are identified to justify the need for the present study.

#### **Psychological Safety**

A healthcare organization is a complex environment where mistakes are common. Therefore, healthcare organizations should create a safe learning environment where nurses feel that they can admit their errors and share their thoughts or opinions, regardless of their perceptions of interpersonal threats. Some nurses view reporting errors as necessary, whereas others see such reporting as a source of problems and embarrassment due to blaming. That is, talking about errors they have made depends on their understanding of interpersonal threats, such as punishment or blame (Edmondson, 1999). Individuals require security in order to overcome interpersonal threats and engage in learning behaviors, which indicates the need to create an environment of psychological safety.

A psychologically safe environment offers nurses the opportunity to overcome their interpersonal concerns, such as fear of being blamed, and encourages nurses to believe that the benefits of safety behaviors, such as reporting errors, outweigh the risks associated with blame or punishment. Edmondson (1999) found that an environment of psychological safety makes establishing learning behaviors easy because it removes the extreme concern about others' reactions to actions and allows nurses to feel secure in performing learning behaviors. Thus, the psychological safety construct has become a significant phenomenon in nursing practice.

Several researchers have discussed the psychological safety concept over the years. In 1965, Schein and Bennis defined psychological safety as an environment where individuals can take risks. They argued that psychological safety is important to make individuals feel safe and confident in their capacity to handle changes in order to accomplish organizational learning. Psychological safety assists individuals in overcoming their interpersonal concerns by eliminating barriers to change and establishing an environment that is forgiving of mistakes (Schein & Bennis, 1965). These findings suggest that a psychologically safe environment helps nurses feel secure and confident to talk about or discuss their mistakes. In 1990, Kahn defined psychological safety as the ability to display and use oneself without fearing negative outcomes associated with self-image or career. Kahn (1990) reintroduced the concept in a qualitative study to identify ways that psychological safety allows personal engagement in the workplace. Kahn (1990) found that psychological safety influences employees' readiness to use or show themselves physically, cognitively, and emotionally during role performance instead of retreating or protecting and is essential for individuals to engage in their work. Later, Edmondson (1999) defined psychological safety as a shared feeling of safety amongst a team that allows for discussion of interpersonal risk. This definition by Edmondson (1999) is the most commonly used in nursing literature (Newman et al., 2017; Ramalho & Porto, 2021), and most nursing studies reviewed by Newman et al. (2017) follow Edmondson's definition. Thus, this definition of psychological safety is used in this study.

Studies also have investigated the importance of conceptual differences between psychological safety and related concepts, such as trust, psychological empowerment, and work engagement, in order to obtain empirical evidence of the value of psychological safety. First, the psychological safety construct is different from the trust construct. Edmondson (1999) emphasized that, even if psychological safety includes interpersonal trust, it goes beyond trust. Interpersonal trust should not only exist in a psychologically safe environment, but mutual respect among professionals must be involved, too. Edmondson et al. (2004) also clarified that trust and psychological safety are both focused on describing psychological states, including perceptions of risk and options to decrease negative results. Trust can decrease concerns about the potential negative consequences of an individual's behavior, which in turn improves their trust in their abilities to take interpersonal risks, such as (in the case of nurses) reporting medication errors. When workers have trust in their organizations, they believe that the organizational response to their behavior will be constructive, not blaming or shaming.

Psychological safety differs from trust in three ways. The first is the object of focus, which refers to the focus on self or others. Through trust, people try to protect themselves by observing others' actions. In contrast, through psychological safety, people try to focus on their own actions to protect themselves. Edmondson et al. (2004) stated that trust does not accurately include a description of interpersonal experiences, such as how valued and comfortable individuals feel in their work. The second difference between psychological safety and trust is timeframe (Edmondson et al., 2004). With psychological safety, the timeframe for interpersonal consequences that individuals anticipate when participating in a particular behavior is short term. Healthcare providers who have a question about a medication may think about the potential immediate results of their behavior, such as being humiliated, rather than thinking about possible long-term results, such as hurting a patient. In contrast, the trust construct focuses on expected results through a wide range of distant future events. The third difference between psychological safety and trust is the level of analysis (individual, group, or organizational) (Edmondson et al., 2004). Psychological safety focuses on groups rather than individuals. When professionals feel reluctant to report errors, this reluctance suggests that their team has similar perceptions about reporting, whereas trust can refer to a relationship between two individuals.

Besides trust, empowerment and work engagement also differ from psychological safety. According to Kahn (1990) and Frazier et al. (2017), psychological safety, work engagement, and psychological empowerment all represent positive motivational states towards individuals' work. However, these constructs differ in that work engagement and psychological empowerment refer to an individual's perception of their given job or tasks, whereas psychological safety refers to an understanding of the broader social and work environment and how individuals perceive that others in the workplace will respond to risk-taking behaviors. In sum, psychological safety is conceptually unique and addresses individuals' perceptions of the environment, i.e., where they work, instead of particular jobs or tasks.

In order to examine the psychological safety concept, the antecedent variables must be assessed based on the level of analysis, i.e., individual, group, and organizational levels (Edmondson, 1999; Edmondson et al., 2004; Edmondson & Lei, 2014). Frazier et al. (2017) conducted comprehensive meta-analysis of the antecedents and outcomes of psychological safety at the individual, group, and organizational levels. Although research has suggested that psychological safety is a multidimensional construct, Frazier et al. (2017) found no difference between individual and group levels of analysis. Similarly, Edmondson et al. (2016) reported no significant differences among levels of psychological safety in medical settings.

At the individual level, Frazier et al. (2017) investigated the possible impacts of individual differences and personality traits on the perception of psychological safety and found that having a proactive personality, being emotionally stable, and being open to experiences are important antecedents. These traits make individuals curious and more likely to participate in detecting and solving problems. Newman et al. (2017) also found that individual, but also team, characteristics impact perceptions of psychological safety.

At the group level, Frazier et al. (2017) found that interpersonal relationships, group dynamics, leadership, and organizational norms are antecedents to psychological safety. Specifically, leaders' behaviors are an important aspect of a safe psychological environment. When leaders admit their mistakes and show fallibility, staff also will feel more comfortable reporting or admitting their mistakes. Edmondson (1999) explained that managers' responses to events and behaviors impact team members' perspectives of appropriate and safe behavior. A leader's behavior should be characterized by three aspects to improve psychological safety: the leader should be available and accessible, explicitly encourage input and feedback, and be a role model of openness and admission of fallibility (Edmondson et al., 2004). When leaders are accessible, staff feel that their opinions are valued. By encouraging staff to express their concerns and ask questions, leaders promote psychological safety. Providing feedback to staff reflects that leaders respect their staff's opinions, which leads to encouraging active participation. Ultimately, the way that leaders act can serve as a model of acceptable behavior within the organization.

At the organizational level, Frazier et al. (2017) identified the most common organizational factors that can affect psychological safety, which include a positive association between work design characteristics, such as autonomy, role clarity, and interdependent work, and perceptions of psychological safety. To create psychological safety, staff should be trusted to make significant decisions and have a clear description of their role in participation. Such practices ensure that employees can depend on each other to complete their jobs. Frazier et al. (2017) noted also that psychological safety is positively associated with supportive work contexts, such as support from team members, leaders, and the organization. Staff need to feel trust, care, and support from their peers as well as their leaders. Newman et al. (2017) also found that supportive organizational practices, leadership, and co-workers' behaviors, such as valuing participation and trust, are all factors that contribute to improved performance, engagement, and commitment among staff.

In addition to describing the antecedents of psychological safety, Frazier et al. (2017) clarified the outcomes of psychological safety, which include engagement, task performance, and some behavioral variables. Newman et al. (2017) also found that psychological safety is positively associated with engagement and task performance. In a psychologically safe environment, individuals can focus on their jobs and feel secure to participate without thinking about possible negative results. At an individual level, psychological safety also is associated with outcomes such as job engagement, organizational commitment, learning from failure, and creative work involvement (Edmondson & Lei, 2014). The Frazier et al. (2017) study similarly reported that psychological safety is positively associated with some behavioral outcome variables, such as information sharing, creativity, and learning behaviors. A psychologically safe environment thus provides nurses with the opportunity to learn, cooperate, and share information. This type of environment also contributes to encouraging nurses to generate novel solutions because they are able to overcome their fear of being blamed or punished if they make a mistake. Thus, establishing a psychologically safe work environment is necessary given the demand for learning and innovation in the workplace.

Many researchers have found that psychological safety acts as a mediator between learning behavior variables, i.e., the antecedents (leader behaviors and availability of resources and information) and outcomes (innovation, performance, and learning) (Edmondson, 1999; Lee & Dahinten, 2021; Newman et al., 2017; O'Donovan & McAuliffe, 2020; Roh et al., 20201; Triplett & Loh, 2018). For example, Edmondson (1999) found a positive association between psychological safety and the availability of resources, information, and leaders' behaviors. The availability of resources and information makes healthcare providers feel confident to engage in risk-taking activities. A leader who is supportive and offers opportunities for questions helps to create a safe environment in which nurses can admit their mistakes and suggest new ideas. In contrast, a leader who takes a punitive approach makes nurses hesitant to participate in learning behaviors. Supportive leader behaviors promote individuals' confidence in their ability to perform their job, and the availability of resources and information removes barriers to progress. In a systematic review of psychological safety, Newman et al. (2017) examined ways that encouraging organizational practices, supportive leadership behaviors, relationship networks, team characteristics, and individual/team differences impact workplace outcomes at the individual, team, and organizational levels through the establishment of psychological safety.

Reporting errors and taking preventive action are examples of learning behaviors, and these behaviors flourish in a safe environment. Learning behaviors can mediate the impact of psychological safety on performance outcomes (Edmondson, 1999). Edmondson et al. (2004) clarified that an organization should focus on productive discussion to facilitate the early prevention of problems and the achievement of shared goals. Nurses are more likely to report errors or problems if they are confident that their organization will not hold their errors or problems against them. Consequently, a safe psychological environment is necessary to help providers change their behavior (Edmondson et al., 2004). In a safe psychological environment, nurses' willingness to engage in safety behaviors and learn from their mistakes will increase. In order for nurses to participate in learning behaviors, they must feel confident in their own abilities and respected among their coworkers and not fear reprisal or embarrassment when performing learning behaviors.

A psychologically safe work environment is important for healthcare organizations because the healthcare setting is such a high-risk environment where errors cannot be avoided. In a highly complex work environment, providers need to work interdependently to provide safe care (O'Donovan & McAuliffe, 2020). Thus, determining the practical enablers of psychological safety among healthcare teams is necessary to enhance and sustain a psychologically safe environment. Edmondson et al. (2004) noted that the level of psychological safety influences the way team members react to each other and their behaviors, such as seeking help and feedback, speaking up about errors and concerns, providing innovative suggestions, and communicating with others. Asking for help may make nurses feel that they are incompetent, but psychological safety helps to alleviate their fear of others' reactions and encourages them to ask questions. Nurses may also feel hesitant about seeking feedback to avoid negative criticism and humiliation, but in a psychologically safe environment, nurses may realize that the benefits of speaking up exceed the risks. Nurses also may feel free to offer new ideas, suggestions for change, and recommendations for modifications without having to think about others' reactions.

Studies indicate that psychological safety is beneficial if not critical in the healthcare environment. O'Donovan and McAuliffe (2020) conducted a systematic review of studies published between 1999 and 2019 to identify factors that enable psychological safety in healthcare teams. They found that these factors could be classified into five broad themes: (1) priority for patient safety, (2) improvement and learning orientation, (3) support, (4) familiarity with colleagues, and (5) status, hierarchy, inclusiveness, and individual differences. The first theme, priority for patient safety, includes leader behaviors and professional responsibility. Supportive leader behaviors help nurses feel secure in reporting errors. Nurses who have a sense of responsibility and accountability realize the importance of speaking up for patient safety.

The second theme, improvement and learning orientation, indicates a culture of continuous improvement and change-oriented leadership. O'Donovan and McAuliffe (2020) reported that psychological safety mediates the relationship between a culture of continuous

improvement and providers' engagement and suggestions for improvements. Their study emphasizes the leader's role in supporting continuous quality improvement and psychological safety by encouraging innovative thinking, visualizing change, taking personal risks, and simplifying open discussion of errors and solutions. The third theme focuses on support from leaders, peers, and organizations. O'Donovan and McAuliffe (2020) note that supportive healthcare environments encourage providers to express their concerns, which providers perceive to be a professional duty that is supported by administration and policies. Leader support, shown by listening or providing feedback, improves open communication among providers. Thus, coworkers can share the same norms and values about speaking up. Sharing the same norms contributes to enhancing nurses' willingness to speak up about their safety concerns and fosters psychological safety.

The fourth theme is familiarity, whether among team members or with the team leader and across teams (O'Donovan & McAuliffe, 2020). The healthcare environment should facilitate the development of trust and interpersonal relationships between and among team members. Similarly, due to the interdependent nature of the healthcare environment, it is important to facilitate communication, information sharing, and collaboration across different teams (O'Donovan & McAuliffe, 2020). The fifth theme is status, hierarchy, inclusiveness, and individual differences. O'Donovan and McAuliffe (2020) found that healthcare providers with a higher status report higher levels of psychological safety. Therefore, inclusive leadership behaviors can overcome the negative impacts of low status on psychological safety by smoothing hierarchical differences, thereby contributing to developing a psychological safe environment. O'Donovan and McAuliffe (2020) stated that personal differences, such as gender, personality, and personal control, also can impact psychological safety in healthcare teams. They found that male healthcare providers are more likely to speak up about safety issues because they have a higher level of braveness and assertiveness compared to many female healthcare providers. Providers who have high levels of personal control also are more likely to speak up compared to providers who do not have high levels of personal control. These five themes relate to team building and establishing trust among team members and thus serve to foster psychological safety in healthcare settings.

The concept of psychological safety, in addition to being studied in the context of the healthcare environment, has been studied in the context of nursing education. Turner and Harder (2018) defined psychological safety as an environment in which learners can engage without feeling fear of punishment or humiliation. They conducted concept analysis of a simulated psychologically safe learning environment and found that such an environment has three essential attributes. The first is that nursing students need to be able to make mistakes without fearing negative outcomes. The second involves the qualities of the facilitator, which include being accessible, respectful, and providing constructive feedback. The third attribute is fundamental activities that are divided into three categories: (1) learners should be oriented to the physical environment; (2) preparation of the learners includes watching a video or reading required materials; and (3) objectives and expectations should be clearly defined among facilitators and learners. Turner and Harder (2018) noted that the benefits of a psychologically safe learning environment include improving innovation, collaboration, and allowing individuals to speak up when they notice errors. Further, Turner and Harder (2018) identified four antecedents of a psychologically safe environment: being in a controlled environment, formative evaluation, confidentiality, and trust. These factors make students feel secure in engaging in risky behaviors that might or might not cause mistakes. Turner and Harder (2018) explained that

the outcomes of a psychologically safe environment in simulation include learning from mistakes, problem-solving, and skill acquisition. These observations are consistent with those of Edmondson (1999) who found that learners will have confidence in their actions when the fear of discomfort and mistakes is reduced and when they realize that mistakes are common in a simulated environment. Kostovich et al. (2020) also stated that psychological safety in both healthcare and education settings can facilitate learning processes and lead to enhanced work outcomes at various levels, including individual and team levels.

In summary, the concept of psychological safety captures nurses' perceptions of the consequences of interpersonal risk behaviors in their work environment. Asking questions, seeking feedback, reporting errors, and voicing their concerns are interpersonal behaviors that can be considered risky due to their possible negative consequences, such as being seen as incompetent or blamed. Psychological safety is not only a significant concept in the healthcare setting but also in a simulated learning environment. In both healthcare and education settings, facilitators and leaders should be accessible and supportive, and providers and learners need to have the skills and resources to engage in learning behaviors.

#### The Theory of Planned Behavior

The TPB has been used to understand, predict, and change human social behaviors, such as exercising, maintaining a healthy diet, donating blood, and using public transportation (Ajzen, 2011). It also has been applied to explain the impacts of peer pressure and behavioral control on patient safety behaviors, such as reporting incidents and speaking up (Wakefield et al., 2010). The TPB can provide important information regarding effective interventions that can modify social behaviors. This theory also helps to understand the factors that influence healthcare providers' intentions to engage in safety behaviors in order to improve patient safety (Wakefield
et al., 2010), and determining such factors is thus a prerequisite to improving patient safety. The TPB can be applied to investigate and predict nurses' attitudes and behaviors that influence patient safety and quality of care, especially those behaviors and attitudes that are not easily observable, such as adherence to clinical guidelines (Rich et al., 2020).

Ajzen (1991) defined behavior as the result of salient information or beliefs that are considered to be prevalent determinants of individuals' intentions and actions. Along with this definition, Ajzen (1991) stated that the key driver for behavior is the intention to carry out a behavior, which is defined as the willingness and motivational level of a person to perform a given behavior. According to Ajzen (2011), intention is often used as a proxy for measuring actual behavior, especially in cases where direct observation of the behavior is unrealistic or hard to accomplish. Reporting behavior is one such case. Figure 1 presents a schematic illustration of the TPB and indicates that the intention to carry out a behavior can be predicted from three independent determinants: attitude toward the behavior, subjective norm, and perceived behavioral control. No permission is needed to use the TPB in this study. The three constructs and intention jointly signify an actual behavior. Ajzen (1991) and Ajzen and Fishbein (1980) explained that the main factor in the TPB is the individual's intention to carry out a specific behavior. An individual who has a strong intention to participate in a particular behavior is likely to perform that behavior (Ajzen, 1991; Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980). Thus, the intention construct captures the likelihood that an individual will perform an intended behavior.



*Note:* From "The theory of planned behavior," by Ajzen, I. (1991). *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*(2), 179-211.

According to the TPB, attitudes are determined by subjective norms, which refer to the perceived social pressure to carry out or not carry out a behavior. When individuals have a positive attitude toward a behavior, they are more likely to have a strong intention to perform that behavior. Attitude towards behavior indicates the degree to which individuals believe they have an appropriate or inappropriate evaluation of the behavior (Ajzen, 1991). This notion suggests that nurses' willingness to report errors depends on their belief that this behavior will improve patient safety. When nurses perceive that other nurses who report errors are incompetent, this perception negatively impacts nurses' willingness to report errors. On the other hand, when peers or managers consider reporting errors as a useful tool to improve patient safety, nurses will be more likely to engage in this behavior. Consequently, when managers encourage reporting and peers are supportive of reporting behaviors, a positive attitude toward reporting behavior may develop. Thus, organizations should provide the opportunities and

requisite resources to develop positive attitudes and norms to facilitate reporting behaviors. The more appropriate the attitude and subjective norms with regard to the behavior, the greater the perceived behavioral control, and the stronger a person's intention to carry out the behavior will be. Thus, a combination of all TBP constructs leads to the formation of behavioral intention.

Executing a behavior is based not only on intention but also on behavioral control, which in turn includes the motivational factors that impact behavior. The probability of performing a given behavior is based on both intention and behavioral control (Ajzen,1991). Perceived behavioral control refers to an individual's perception of difficulty or ease to carry out the behavior of interest and considers past experience, expected barriers, and obstacles (Ajzen, 1991). An individual's intentions, along with the levels of the individual's behavioral control, will impact the individual's performance. The direct relationship between intention and behavioral control indicates that the intentions of healthcare providers are more likely to be carried out if they have the necessary resources and ability to perform the behavior. Behavioral control is indirectly associated with a behavior, indicating that the impacts of intentions are influenced by perceived behavioral control that affects behavioral performance as well (Ajzen, 1991). These relationships demonstrate that perceived behavioral control has a significant role in the TPB.

In fact, perceived behavioral control is often a proxy for actual control and can lead to the prediction of behavior (Ajzen, 2002; 2011). Actual behavioral control is the extent to which an individual has the desired opportunities and resources and intends to carry out the behavior (Ajzen, 1991). Ajzen (2002) stated that several behaviors present difficulties in performance that can limit volitional control. Volitional control refers to how much individuals have control over their behavior. Hence, individuals need resources that facilitate performance to strengthen their

ability to perform the behavior. Ultimately, an individual's ability impacts their persistence to face any difficulties with regard to performance. However, perceived behavioral control needs to be realistic (Ajzen,1991). Some behaviors are not under volitional control, which may make perceived behavioral control difficult to implement.

As some behaviors are under volitional control, they can only be predicted by intention. A high level of perceived control should reinforce an individual's intention to execute the behavior and enhance effort and persistence (Ajzen, 2002, 2011). Perceived behavioral control indirectly impacts behavior through its influence on intention. According to Ajzen (2002), many behaviors are difficult to perform, which reflects limited volitional control. For example, when a nurse seeks a promotion within their organization, the execution of this intention is not totally under the nurse's control. Even if the nurse tries everything in their power to obtain the position, another nurse who may be more qualified may be chosen. Thus, a lack of control is present in some situations.

Perceived behavioral control and self-efficacy share some similarities and differences. They both refer to an individual's belief that they are able to perform a given behavior (Ajzen, 2002, 2020). Perceived behavioral control refers to the degree of controllability over a certain behavior, whereas self-efficacy refers to the ability of an individual to perform a given behavior (Ajzen, 2002, 2020). Perceived behavioral control involves carrying out behavior that will result in a given outcome, whereas self-efficacy focuses on the behavior itself, not on outcomes or events (Ajzen, 2002). Ajzen's conceptualization of perceived behavioral control refers to both internal (skills or abilities) and external (time or opportunity) factors. Perceived self-efficacy is the ability to carry out control during performance and judge how successful individuals perform the required behavior (Ajzen, 1991, 2002). Thus, self-efficacy impacts the options of activities, the effort expended during performance, emotional reactions, and preparation for an activity.

However, according to Ajzen (1991, 2002, 2020), no conceptual difference is evident between perceived behavioral control and self-efficacy. They both refer to an individual's belief that they are able to perform a given behavior, but operationally, they are assessed in different ways. Bandura's (1977) concept of self-efficacy is a graded series of potential obstacles to performing a behavior and, in Bandura's research, participants were asked to indicate how likely they were to overcome each obstacle. To assess perceived behavioral control, participants were asked to rate the extent to which they have the ability to perform the behavior and the extent to which the behavior is under their control. The Bandura study results are consistent with those of Tavousi et al. (2009) who used factor analysis to distinguish between perceived behavioral control and self-efficacy. Perceived behavioral control describes factors that control an individual's decision to perform a behavior.

According to the TPB, beliefs provide the bases for attitudes, subjective norms, and perceptions of behavioral control. Beliefs that are related to intended behaviors help to guide individual decisions to execute such behaviors. Ajzen (1991) stated that attitudes toward a behavior are based on beliefs about the probable outcomes of performing the behavior and appraisal of these outcomes (behavioral beliefs). Subjective norms are based on beliefs about the normative anticipation of others and motivation to adhere to these anticipations (normative beliefs). Perceptions of behavioral control are based on beliefs about the presence of factors that could assist or impede the performance of the behavior and the perceived power of these elements (control beliefs). These different types of beliefs serve as a guide for individuals' decisions or actions. Thus, the TPB can be used to change or predict behavioral, normative, and control beliefs.

The TPB has been used to understand individual behavior in a multitude of behavioral domains. Casper (2007) applied principles of the TPB to assess the impact of a continuing education class on the intentions and behavior of mental health practitioners. The Casper (2007) study found that the theory-guided class significantly increased the participants' intentions to use the self-report tool compared to the standard class. Nelson et al. (2014) used the TPB to evaluate attitudes, perceived control, subjective norms, and intentions in order to predict healthcare providers' intentions to measure blood pressure accurately and found that perceived behavioral control and social norms were the most significant predictors of accuracy. Guo et al. (2019) found that administrators' attitudes and perceived behavioral control are statistically significant in predicting administrators' intention to use evidence-based management. In addition, Gavaza et al. (2011) used the TPB as a model to predict pharmacists' intention to report serious adverse drug events and found that subjective norms and attitudes are the strongest predictors of intention and that perceived behavioral control does not predict intent. However, Williams et al. (2015) found that perceived behavioral control, descriptive norms, and attitudes towards the behavior are important predictors of pharmacists' intention to report errors.

The TPB also has been used to explain and predict nurses' intentions and behaviors. Javadi et al. (2013) examined predictors of nurses' patient safety intentions and behaviors using a TPB framework and found that the greatest influences on nurses' intentions to perform patient safety behaviors are normative beliefs and subjective norms. Hung et al. (2016) concluded that normative beliefs (nurse managers' and coworkers' expectations or perceptions) are the strongest predictors of nurses' attitudes toward medication error reporting. Lapkin et al. (2015) found that subjective norms are negatively related to behavioral intention and that attitudes and perceived behavior control are significant predictors of intention in terms of enhancing medication safety and collaborative practice. Lapkin et al. (2015) suggested that healthcare providers may place a low value on others' perceptions regarding medication safety and collaborative practice. Ekayani et al. (2017) and Tabak and Fleishman (2011) concluded that attitudes and perceived behavioral control significantly impact the intention to report adverse events, whereas subjective norms do not impact the intention to report adverse events. Rogers et al. (2017) found that a positive attitude and supportive subjective norms are strongly associated with nurses' intention to use automated dispensing cabinets and that perceived behavioral control is not a strong predictor of the intention of behavior. The varying and conflicting results of the aforementioned studies confirm that the TPB's constructs and influences differ across different behaviors.

Natan et al. (2017) found that all three determinants of intention, i.e., behavioral beliefs, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control, are strong predictors of nurses' intentions to report errors. This finding is consistent with the results of Angelis et al. (2017) who concluded that nurses' intentions to report adverse drug reactions are impacted by all three determinants of the TPB. Ditching et al. (2020) found that all three TPB constructs are significantly correlated with nursing students' intention to report needlestick injuries. These studies indicate that the more positive the nurses' attitudes and subjective norms are regarding reporting errors, the greater the perceived behavioral control over the behavior, and the stronger the intention to report errors.

In sum, several researchers confirm that the TPB is relevant to understanding healthcare providers' behaviors and intentions, and thus, the theory has been used by many healthcare services (Ekayani et al., 2017; Rich et al., 2020). Many studies have applied the TPB to examine

predictors of nurses' intentions and to identify factors that influence reporting behaviors (Dionisi et al., 2020; Ekayani et al., 2017; Hung et al., 2016; Javadi et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2016; Natan et al., 2017; Rogers et al., 2017; Wakefield et al., 2010). The TPB helps to explain individuals' decisions and actions by being applied to evaluate major beliefs in the population (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980). Thus, by obtaining enough information about beliefs that need to be changed, a hospital can help nurses change those beliefs and behaviors. The TPB is a useful tool that can be applied to study nurses' attitudes, behaviors, and perceptions of patient safety and their ability to perform nursing skills.

## Links between Psychological Safety and Intention to Report Errors

The literature demonstrates the influence of psychological safety on individuals' intentions. Edmondson (1999) found that psychological safety is a key component to discovering and preventing errors and an important determinant of healthcare providers' behaviors. Later, Edmondson et al. (2016) determined that psychological safety is essential to facilitate learning and change within a high-stakes environment. Soola et al. (2021) stated that psychological safety supports patient safety by encouraging nurses to admit their mistakes, which can contribute to quality improvements. Newman et al. (2017) found that the link between "team priority of safety" and reporting errors is strong in a highly psychologically safe environment. These findings confirm that, in order for errors to be reported, healthcare organizations need to build a safe environment that encourages reporting behaviors and makes nurses feel secure in admitting errors, which can serve as a learning source for others. In short, the healthcare literature shows a positive relationship between psychological safety and nurses' intention to report errors or speak up about safety concerns and risks in the healthcare environment (Edmondson & Lei, 2014; Lee

& Dahinten, 2021; O'Donovan & McAuliffe, 2020; Remtulla et al., 2021; Scheepers et al. 2018; Soola et al. 2021).

A psychologically safe environment enhances the ability to predict nurses' intentions to report errors by strengthening the effects of the TPB constructs on the intention. Kim et al. (2021) found that, in a psychologically safe environment, nurses are more likely to have positive attitudes toward reporting behavior because the workplace motivates them to improve the work process and performance. Alingh et al. (2019) stated that, in a safe environment, nurses are more likely to believe in the effectiveness of a reporting system, which will translate into a positive attitude toward reporting behavior. By contrast, Stühlinger et al. (2021) showed that, in teams with low levels of psychological safety, individual nurses feel social pressure to conform to their team norm. That is, any behavior that does not correspond to group norms could be an interpersonal risk for nurses and they may feel social pressure to comply with the norms of their current team. Thus, nurses can feel unsafe when they behave/act according to their attitudes or beliefs that may not match group norms. Nurses who have a high level of psychological safety are more likely to possess common beliefs and accept the risks that are related to reporting behaviors. To engage in safety behaviors, nurses need to have the required resources and control over these behaviors. Song et al. (2020) stated that, in a psychological safety environment, nurses will be more confident in their ability, controllability, resources, and opportunities, and there will be fewer expected obstacles that lead to strong perceived behavior control. Song et al. (2020) also claimed that psychological safety increases individuals' perceptions of ease and decreases their feeling of risk when they express new ideas. Thus, the effects of positive attitudes, favorable norms, controllability, and individuals' ability to act on intentions are strong when the level of psychologically safety is high.

#### **Proposed Theoretical Model**

The TPB constructs serve as an important framework for predicting and changing behaviors across different domains, including nursing (Lee & Vincent, 2021; Steinmetz et al., 2016). Ajzen (2002; 2006) noted that the TPB constructs alone may not be enough to capture people's intentions and actions. Therefore, Ajzen (1991; 2006; 2011; 2020) suggested adding more predictors to the TPB when such predictors have important impacts on the outcomes. Psychological safety is a predictor that may have an important impact on intention. Appelbaum et al. (2016) found that psychological safety was a positive predictor of intention to report adverse events. They determined psychological safety as an essential antecedent to the intention to report errors and actual reporting behavior. Many studies also found psychological safety is a positive predictor for intent to report errors (Derickson et al., 2015; Lee & Dahinten, 2021; Munn, 2016). High levels of psychological safety in the work environment encourage members of teams to voice their possible safety concerns and suggest ideas that can improve patient care (Grailey et al., 2021). This type of environment motivates nurses to overcome their fear of potential consequences and supports identification and reporting errors. For this study, the psychological safety construct is added as a variable to the TPB components in the proposed model.

Psychological safety is a multidimensional construct. Psychological safety has both individual and team aspects (Edmondson, 1999; Ito et al., 2022; McClintock & Fainstad, 2022) and reflects individuals' perceptions of the outcomes of their interpersonal risks within their team (Edmondson, 2002) Individuals who feel safe to report errors contribute to having a shared belief among nurses that their unit is a psychologically safe workplace. Therefore, Ito et al. (2022) described individuals' feeling of psychological safety as a prerequisite for creating team psychological safety. Nurses need to feel psychological safety in order to build a culture of psychological safety in their unit or team. A safe environment in the unit can be built through a set of procedures or policies that assure nurses they will not be punished or blamed for safetyrelated behaviors, such as reporting errors.

Despite the variety of levels of psychological safety, the literature tends to focus on the individual level (Carmeli et al., 2010; Kark & Carmeli, 2009; Lee et al., 2016; Leroy et al., 2012; Nembhard & Edmondson, 2006; Rogers, 2020; Scheepers et al. 2018). In a systematic review of the literature, Newman et al. (2017) found that 29 studies measured psychological safety at the individual level and that the most used scale was Edmondson's (1999) scale. Since the TPB described individual-level predictors of actions, it is important to meet the principle of compatibility by ensuring that all constructs are measured at the same level of specificity (Ajzen, 1985; Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011). Thus, all constructs of this study, including psychological safety and the TPB items were measured at an individual level.

Psychological safety impacts the relationship between three TPB predictors and intentions to report errors. Facilitating positive attitudes toward reporting errors creates a set of positive shared beliefs among team members and increases team members' ability to report errors and control behaviors. Nurses may accept risks related to reporting behaviors. Catalano et al. (2021) argued that individuals hold attitudes and beliefs about normative pressure and whether they believe their behavior is under their control, which cannot be enough to develop strong intentions if the situational environment is not supportive. Psychological safety strengthens the effects of the TPB constructs (attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived control) on intentions. Lee et al. (2016) found that higher levels of individual psychological safety have positive impacts on norms of incident reporting. As a result, higher levels of psychological safety can strengthen its relationships between attitudes, perceived norms, perceived control, and intentions. Thus, nurses' decisions about whether to report medication errors are based not only on their attitudes towards reporting, social pressure to report, and perceived control over this behavior, but also on feeling psychologically safe within their work environment.

However, when Saudi nurses perceive that the level of psychological safety is low in their work environment, they will hesitate to report medication errors or remain silent about them because they perceive reporting as punitive behavior. Once nurses feel safe when reporting errors, they will adjust their behaviors to feel appreciated in their work environment. Even if they have positive attitudes, norms, and controllability, they will not be able to overcome interpersonal risks within a blaming environment. Within psychologically unsafe teams, members are less likely to overcome social constraints and pay little attention to their personal attitude and abilities in order to develop a behavioral intention. In the proposed model, psychological safety was hypothesized to moderate the relationship between the TPB constructs and Saudi nurses' willingness to report medication errors. The direct effect of psychological safety on Saudi nurses' intentions also was examined. Figure 2 presents a schematic illustration of the proposed theoretical model for this research. Figure 2. Proposed Theoretical Model



Healthcare System in Saudi Arabia

The Ministry of Health (MOH) in the KSA is the main government agency that is responsible for providing care to Saudi patients, whether curative, preventive, or rehabilitative (Ferrer et al., 2018). The MOH has provided universal access to healthcare for Saudi citizens for several decades (Santa et al., 2018). Although healthcare services in Saudi Arabia are free, several challenges are associated with their provision. The most common challenges are the increasing costs of healthcare expenses and Saudis' expectations for medical care to be safe and high quality within a transparent environment (Rahman, 2020). In both public and private Saudi hospitals, medical errors are a frequent problem. When medical errors occur, the financial burden to provide medical care or to pay for the repercussions of these errors falls on the MOH. To prevent such additional expenses, Saudi Arabia is undergoing a healthcare transformation (Alharbi et al., 2019), with a shift to restructure the healthcare system, privatize public hospitals, and incorporate insurance coverage for Saudi and foreign workers. In 2016, the Saudi government presented a new guide, named the Kingdom's 2030 Vision, to transform various aspects of the healthcare system (Alharbi et al., 2019). One of the main objectives of the 2030 Vision is to increase the quantity of Saudi health sectors and promote quality healthcare services (AL-Dossary, 2018).

## Saudi Patient Safety Initiatives

As a result of the Kingdom's 2030 Vision, the Saudi healthcare system has proposed many initiatives to improve patient safety. For example, Alshammari et al. (2021) reported that the Saudi Patient Safety Center was established to improve patient safety and decrease medical errors and patient harm through several strategies, such as establishing a national culture of patient safety reporting and raising awareness of safety issues (Bokhari, 2019). Also, the Saudi Central Board for Accreditation of Healthcare Institutions (CBAHI) is a national accreditation agency that deals with enhancing healthcare quality and establishing safety standards (Bokhari, 2019). The MOH has mandated that all Saudi hospitals should be accredited through the CBAHI (Alshammari et al., 2021). The Saudi MOH also adopts a no-blame culture in terms of reporting medication errors (Alshammari et al., 2022). The MOH does not require any identifying information as to the person who reported the error in order to encourage Saudi nurses to detect and report actual or possible errors. Therefore, all Saudi hospitals must improve medical safety to meet national standards of quality and patient safety (Bokhari, 2019). Ultimately, the MOH aims to mitigate as many medical errors as possible through strategic institutional changes to improve patient safety.

To this end, in 2019, the MOH developed a strategy to increase reporting of medication errors, including an electronic form that is accessible to all healthcare providers. The MOH also developed a job description for medication safety officers and compiled guidelines for medication error reporting. The MOH can now monitor sentinel events (defined as a patient safety event that results in death, permanent harm, or severe temporary harm) by notifying, investigating, and reviewing the occurrences of these events across the Saudi system within the established reporting system (Altalhi et al., 2021). Saudi hospitals are required to report sentinel events within five days of detection. The type of event, location, contributing factors, and influence on patient care are reported through a secure web-based portal in a system designated for reporting sentinel events. The MOH requires Saudi hospitals to submit a root cause analysis based on causative systems, processes, human factors, and prospective corrective actions (Altalhi et al., 2021; Bokhari, 2019). In addition, the Saudi Food and Drug Authority established the National Pharmacovigilance Center to monitor safety matters regarding medications, and thus, the Center has an important role in the detection of adverse drug reactions and their evaluation and prevention (Mutair et al., 2021). In response to the recommendations of the CBAHI and Saudi Patient Safety Center, Saudi healthcare organizations have begun to pay attention to patient safety improvements and decrease medical errors.

#### **Errors Reporting in Saudi Arabia**

Healthcare organizations aim to provide high-quality and safe care to patients. Therefore, most organizations try to decrease all types of errors, including medications errors. Medication errors are an international issue and are the most common type of under-reported medical errors (Alshammari et al., 2021). According to Rutledge et al. (2018), medications errors that are under-reported affect patient safety by impairing performance advancement efforts. The most

common method to decrease such errors and protect patients is incident reporting. The information taken from incident reports can be used as a source to develop individual or organizational learning (Alarfj, 2020; Al-Rayes et al., 2020; Banakhar et al., 2017). Data from reports also can lead to a better understanding of the nature and cause of errors and help discover events that might have caused harm to patients if not handled in time (Alarfj, 2020; Banakhar et al., 2017; ElKhider & Savage, 2019). A reporting system assists in identifying possible risks and alerting healthcare organizations to potential system failures (Hamed & Konstantinidis, 2022) so that organizations can determine if they need to change a process or reform a system. Therefore, incident reporting serves as a powerful tool for safe healthcare practices by creating learning opportunities to prevent future errors.

Healthcare organizations need to understand the surrounding factors of error reporting, and thus, an effective error reporting system is an essential strategy to improve patient safety (Alsabaani, 2020; Chen et al., 2018). A successful incident reporting system assists healthcare organizations in creating a culture of safety because it serves as a central component of safe health practices (Al-Rayes et al., 2020). Evaluating such reports can lead to new policies and procedures that aim to decrease the possibility of repeating of past incidents. Healthcare organizations encourage reporting errors because of the benefits to patients, providers, and healthcare organizations. Reporting medical errors can smooth the examination of factors that lead to errors or harm, improve the understanding of ways to reduce contributing factors, and lead to safe clinical practice (Chen et al., 2018). Healthcare organizations can use data from error reports to discover the causes of errors and follow up with improvement strategies.

Investigating all the factors that are related to medication errors is important to identify the causes of the errors (Rutledge et al., 2018). Healthcare organizations need to identify such

factors, such as managerial factors and the workplace environment, to decrease errors. Because reporting errors helps to identify the factors that lead to medication errors, reducing barriers to reporting errors is an important task. Saleh and Barnard (2019) identified such barriers in Saudi hospitals as fear, misunderstanding what represents an error, concern about the ramifications of reporting and handling the error, and the perception of the significance of the error and its reporting process. Moon and Kim (2017) reported that the main obstacles to reporting errors are fear of criticism and blame, a limited communication system regarding error reporting, and a lack of knowledge and procedures about reporting errors. Hamed and Konstantinidis (2022) conducted a qualitative systematic review to identify barriers to incident reporting among nurses and found that fear of negative consequences, such as being blamed or seen as incompetent, is the most frequent barrier to reporting errors Aljabari and Kadhim (2021) and Archer et al. (2017) also found that fear of consequences is the most significant barrier to reporting errors. Because these study results indicate that fear of consequences is the most important factor in underreporting errors, nurses may perceive reporting errors as risky behavior due to the possibility of negative results.

ElKhider and Savage (2019) stated 53% of Saudi nurses perceived fear of consequences as a barrier to near-miss reporting. They defined near-miss events as unplanned events that are more likely to result in damage to patients. ElKhider and Savage (2019) reported that Saudi nurses were afraid of the adverse consequences of reporting their errors, being blamed or reprimanded, and having administrators or colleagues develop a negative attitude towards them or consider them incompetent. These ElKhider and Savage (2019) study results are consistent with the results of other Saudi studies (Al-Otaibi et al.,2018; Archer et al.,2017; Nkurunziza et al., 2019; Saleh & Barnard, 2019). In addition, Aljabari and Kadhim (2021) conducted a systematic review of the literature to analyze common barriers to reporting medical errors in several countries and discovered that the fear of consequences is the most prominent barrier reported by 63% of nurses. These studies indicate that poor psychological safety in Saudi hospitals with a punitive reporting environment can make nurses feel fear of blame, punishment, losing their jobs, or respect and thus feel insecure to discuss or report errors.

Other barriers to reporting medication errors among Saudi nurses include lack of time and the complexity of the reporting process (Banakhar et al. 2017). Hammoudi et al. (2018) concluded that the most likely reason for underreporting medication errors is the administration's response, which includes leaders' lack of positive feedback and concentration on personal failure rather than on system failure. ElKhider and Savage (2019) showed that 27% of Saudi nurses felt a lack of positive feedback from administrative leadership. That is, some nurses do not report errors because feedback is either lacking or unhelpful. AlQudehy et al. (2018) found several barriers to reporting sentinel events at a Saudi hospital, including poor communication regarding policies and procedures, lack of motivation among healthcare providers, punitive approaches, and the absence of feedback from the hospital administration. Barriers to reporting errors can differ from one institution or country to another, but the literature is consistent that the primary barrier to Saudi nurses reporting errors is fear.

Several strategies have been implemented to promote a culture of error reporting and eliminate barriers to reporting errors among Saudi healthcare providers Rutledge et al. (2018) argued that barriers to reporting medication errors can be modified and are important to take into consideration when improving patient safety. Banakhar et al. (2017) investigated strategies that include employing a computerized system to report medical errors, not holding error reporting against those who reported the error, encouraging nurses to report medical errors, providing feedback about the error that was reported, utilizing clear guidelines and procedures for reporting errors, and training nurses about procedures for reporting medical errors. ElKhider and Savage (2019) determined that incentives and rewards are not significant in improving the reporting of near misses. Archer et al. (2017) examined factors that contribute to facilitating patient safety and incident reporting and found that a positive attitude towards incident reporting and a high value placed on incident reporting can lead to an increase in the probability of reporting. Similarly, Moon and Kim (2017) identified factors that impact attitudes toward incident reporting, including communication about patient safety, transparency of decision-making after errors were reported, and the belief that reporting incidents will improve patient safety.

In addition, changing the work environment and strategies related to reporting errors can help overcome these barriers (Aljabari & Kadhim, 2021). Also, when administrators' responses to errors focus on nurses instead of focusing on the system, the error reporting rate decreases (Aljabari & Kadhim, 2021). To improve error reporting rates, work environments should be characterized by psychological safety (Aljabari & Kadhim, 2021). Nurses with higher levels of psychological safety have a greater intention to report, ask, and express their concerns, which leads to positive attitudes toward error reporting. Therefore, nurses' attitudes and behaviors and the work environment should be assessed to improve the error reporting culture. Based on these studies, nurse managers should consider several facets of the work environment to enhance positive attitudes toward error reporting, including establishing a safe psychosocial environment (Moon & Kim, 2017). When healthcare organizations consider accidents and mistakes as individual causes rather than faults of the system as a whole, this viewpoint leads to creating barriers to error reporting. To understand such barriers, a safe psychological environment needs to be established.

## **Psychological Safety and Reporting Errors**

Nurses' willingness to speak up about their safety concerns to improve patient safety is as important as reporting errors (Lee & Dahinten, 2021). O'Donovan and McAuliffe (2020) emphasized the need to understand factors that help improve psychological safety within the healthcare environment, which suggests the need to understand nurses' motivators and barriers to reporting errors. Gilmartin et al. (2018) explored the role of psychological safety in adherence to the central line insertion checklist and found that the level of psychological safety increased, and the reported rates of nonadherence decreased. Similarly, Appelbaum et al. (2016) stated that a safe psychological safety leads to establishing a non-threatening environment where nurses can seek help or feedback, acknowledge their own mistakes, and offer suggestions for improvement. A safe environment is an important element in improving patient safety because nurses are more likely to engage in interpersonally risky behaviors, such as speaking up and seeking feedback (Hans & Gupta, 2018; O'Donovan et al., 2021).

A psychologically safe work environment encourages nurses to overcome any concerns or fear they may have in reporting errors and contributes to decreasing nurses' fear of negative consequences when reporting errors (Lee and Dahinten, 2021). Alingh et al. (2019) similarly stated that psychological safety relieves the fear of negative personal consequences. Gilmartin et al. (2018) reported that a high rate of error reporting was observed in units that had high levels of psychological safety whereas a low rate of error reporting was observed in units that had low levels of psychological safety. A psychologically safe environment encourages healthcare providers to raise safety concerns because these providers are not fearful of potential negative consequences (Grailey et al., 2021). In this environment, individuals will feel confident that their organizations will listen to them rather than blaming or punishing them and they will feel safe in expressing their concerns and taking interpersonal risks to improve patient safety.

Psychological safety affects several aspects of the healthcare environment in addition to reporting errors. Devaraj et al. (2021) stated that psychological safety is a robust predictor of team performance, improving engagement, and satisfaction. Psychological safety is positively linked with engagement in quality improvement of work, creative team performance, and peers' performance feedback among healthcare providers (Kessel et al. 2012; Nembhard & Edmondson, 2006; Scheepers et al. 2018). Thus, nurses' willingness to explore and innovate will increase in a safe psychological environment. Because hospitals are challenging environments and the stakes are high, nurses need to feel respected and that their opinions or work are valued. On the other hand, lack of psychological safety prevents nurses from speaking up and may cause them to conceal their errors. In such cases, the dominant norm is silence, which contributes to an increase in errors and prevents the discovery of the causes of these errors.

The absence of psychological safety negatively affects nurses' willingness to report errors. Gilmartin et al. (2018) stated that a lack of error reporting was observed in units that have low levels of psychological safety. Appelbaum et al. (2016) reported that, when nurses are afraid to take interpersonal risks to avoid being blamed or to be seen as incompetent, such situations lead to low psychological safety. McClintock and Fainstad (2022) found that teams that lack psychological safety are known for fear, silence, and avoiding negative consequences. Hunt et al. (2021) noted that psychological safety is impacted by the possible consequences of taking interpersonal risks. If nurses feel that they will be blamed or punished for reporting errors, then they will avoid taking interpersonal risks, such as reporting errors or speaking up. Grailey et al. (2021) stated that fear of blame or repercussion limits individuals' psychological safety. According to Edmondson (2019), fear decreases psychological safety. Edmondson (2019) showed that, in a punitive environment, individuals not only are afraid to speak up about potential safety concerns, but they also will withhold ideas for improvement. This type of environment not only negatively impacts patient safety but also the potential for quality improvements in organizations, where individuals' errors can be a source of valuable data for learning. Edmondson (2019) highlighted that learning can take place when enough psychological safety is present to provide lessons for individuals' failures.

Because a safe psychological environment is linked to improving patient safety and learning, understanding the facilitators and barriers to establishing psychological safety is important. Facilitators can help to develop a safe psychological environment. Remtulla et al. (2021) identified several facilitators of psychological safety: leader inclusiveness, an open culture, support in silos, boundary spanner (a person responsible for establishing connections), strong interpersonal relationships, small groups, and a vocal personality. When leaders encourage participation and support their teams, this environment facilitates psychological safety. Also, a work environment needs to have a non-judgmental atmosphere and accept all members' contributions. Similar individuals within a group will be able to strengthen their collective voices and establish unity within the subgroup. To facilitate psychological safety, a team needs a boundary spanner to link sub-groups. Also, individuals who have a vocal personality, strong interpersonal relationships, and those who are in small teams feel safe speaking up and are confident in expressing their concerns.

Furthermore, Remtulla et al. (2021) identified four barriers to psychological safety: hierarchy, a perceived lack of knowledge, authoritarian leadership, and personality. Hierarchy is a barrier at the organizational level where the feelings of inferiority and others' opinions are less valued. When nurses feel their opinions are meaningless, they will be reluctant to express their concerns or report errors. A perceived lack of knowledge and authoritarian leadership are barriers at the team level. When nurses are unfamiliar with a specific discussion topic, they may feel anxious about saying something wrong or displaying a lack of knowledge. Further, authoritarian leadership leads members to feel impotent, as most decisions are made without discussion. At the individual level, dominating and shy personalities are considered barriers to psychological safety because they can prevent nurses from seeking help or feedback and sharing their mistakes with others.

## **Research Gaps**

The literature is lacking with regard to studies of safety, quality, and guidelines for reducing medication errors through error reporting processes in Saudi Arabia (Saleh & Barnard, 2019). Alshammari et al. (2021) stated that the available data on medication errors and reporting practices are lacking for Saudi healthcare organizations and found that 58.8% of Saudi healthcare providers have not reported medication errors and 89.8% of nurses report that they have insufficient knowledge about medication errors and reporting forms. The reason for this outcome might be that most Saudi nurses do not adhere to an electronic reporting system. No known study has specifically assessed Saudi nurses' beliefs, attitudes, subjective norms, and intention to report medications errors.

In addition, the literature is lacking in general with regard to the topic of psychological safety in Saudi Arabia. Understanding the factors that contribute to reporting errors is crucial in order to develop proper interventions that prompt error reporting (Natan et al., 2017). Further, no studies are available in Saudi literature that link the TPB and reporting behaviors, and thus, nothing is known about using the TPB to predict error reporting by Saudi nurses. Studies also are

limited regarding identifying and evaluating the barriers and facilitators of medical error reporting among Saudi nurses. In order to design interventions that are aimed at improving a reporting culture in the future, identifying the factors that impact reporting among Saudi nurses is necessary. This study attempts to fill these gaps in the literature and contribute information about the effects of the TPB and psychological safety on Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors.

#### Summary

The literature review confirms the impact of the TPB constructs on nurses' intentions to report medication errors. However, the influence of each of the TPB constructs on nurses' intentions is inconsistent across institutions, cultures, and behaviors. The literature review supports exploring the utility of the TPB constructs in predicting intentions in order to develop interventions. Although earlier studies have suggested adding a psychological safety construct to the TPB, they have reached inconsistent and conflicting conclusions regarding the effect of psychological safety specifically. Some researchers claim that psychological safety influences intentions. Others argue that the effects of attitudes, norms, and perceived control on intention are strengthened by psychological safety. Therefore, this study focuses on assessing the role of the psychological safety variable as a moderator and direct predictor of the TPB constructs.

#### CHAPTER THREE

#### **RESEARCH METHODS**

This chapter describes the research design used for this study, followed by discussion of the population and sample selection process and data collection procedures. This chapter also provides a detailed description of the measures and data analysis as well as ethical considerations.

## **Research Design**

A quantitative cross-sectional online survey method was used for this study. A nonexperimental correlational method was chosen to explore Saudi nurses' attitudes, subjective norms, perceived control, perceptions of psychological safety, and intentions to report medication errors. The cross-sectional design was implemented because the data were collected at a single point in time.

#### **Population and Sample**

This study was conducted in the city of Arar, the capital of the Northern Borders Province in Saudi Arabia. The target population for this study was inpatient registered nurses (RNs) employed in hospitals in Saudi Arabia. The accessible population included Saudi RNs working in medical, surgical, and intensive care units at Prince Abdulaziz Bin Musaad Hospital and North Medical Tower in Arar. The MOH manages both of these hospitals. The eligible number of nurses was approximately 300 nurses for both hospitals. The sample was selected according to convenience sampling. The inclusion criteria for participation in this study were (1) Saudi RNs with at least six months of work experience and (2) these RNs' willingness to participate in the study. Exclusion criteria are (1) nurses working in units other than those specified (i.e., medical, surgical, and intensive care units), (2) non-Saudi nurses, and (3) nursing students.

According to calculations obtained using G\*POWER software, the effect size was derived from the literature and was estimated to be moderate (Applebaum et al., 2016; Lapkin et al.,2015). Francis et al. (2004) also recommended a medium effect size for calculating sample size using power analysis in studies of the TPB. Sample size was calculated using A Priori G\*Power analysis (F tests, linear multiple regression, fixed model,  $R^2$  deviation from zero), resulting in the suggested sample size of N = 109 based on  $\alpha$  = .05, power (1- $\beta$ ) = .80, medium effect size = .15, and a total of eight predictors (attitude, perceived behavioral control, subjective norms, psychological safety, and four demographic variables). The sample size of N = 109 achieved more than 80% power to detect an effect size of  $f^2$  = 0.15 attributed to the main predictor variables using an F-test with significance level  $\alpha$  = 0.05 after controlling for the four demographic variables (Faul et al., 2009).

## **Data Collection**

The web-based survey that was used to collect the data for this study included questionnaires on psychological safety and the TPB. The researcher sent emails to the chief nursing officers of both hospitals to explain the study and to request the chief nursing officers to encourage RN participation in the study. After obtaining approval from the Saudi Health Department in Arar in the Northern Borders Province, the chief nursing officers sent emails to Saudi nurses that included an invitation letter along with the link to the survey and additional sociodemographic questions (see Appendix A). The researcher sent three reminders one week, two weeks, and three weeks after the initial email. The survey was administered using Qualtrics online software. An English version was used, as English was the most common language used in the targeted units.

Upon clicking on the survey link to access the questionnaires, an information page appeared that explained the study. At this page, nurses had the option to click YES to continue and complete the survey or NO to exit the survey. The survey was designed to take between 10 and 15 minutes to complete.

## Measures

The first part of the survey included questions about the TPB and four demographic characteristics. The TPB questions were divided into four sections that corresponded to the constructs of the TPB: attitude, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and intention. The demographic characteristics were level of education, years of experience, unit of practice, and age. The second part of the survey consisted of the seven-item survey developed by Edmondson (1999), the Psychological Safety Scale (PSS). The dependent variable for this study was Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors and the independent variables were attitudes toward a behavior, perceived behavioral control, subjective norms, psychological safety, and demographic factors.

The demographic variables were included as covariates in the analyses because of their importance in affecting nurses' beliefs. Saudi studies have found a statistically significant association between Saudi nurses' reporting of medication errors and participants' age and years of experience (Al Khreem & Al-khadher, 2021; Al-Otaibi et al., 2018). Chen et al. (2018) also found that level of education, age, and years of service impact nurses' intentions to report errors. According to Ajzen (1991, 2002, 2006, 2020), removing demographic variables allows for more

concentration on the TPB constructs, which in turn allows deeper exploration of beliefs. Thus, the demographic variables were controlled due to their potential effects on the outcome (intention).

# **Theory of Planned Behavior Survey Questions**

Based on the literature, the TPB has been applied successfully to explain nursing behaviors across different contexts. Lee and Vincent (2021) systematically analyzed and evaluated the TPB and found that it has been tested broadly across various human behaviors, including nursing. The TPB constructs (attitudes toward a behavior, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and intention) can be evaluated by asking direct questions about the respondent's ability to perform a behavior or asking indirect questions about the respondent's beliefs about their capability to handle particular prohibiting or facilitating factors (Ajzen, 1991, 2002, 2006, 2011). Lee and Vincent (2021) also showed that no single standard instrument has been developed that can be applied consistently to TPB concepts. Each behavior should be defined in terms of its target, action, time, and context. Ajzen (1991, 2002, 2011) found that five to six items can be employed to evaluate each of the theory's three major constructs, and sevenpoint bipolar adjective scales are usually used for this purpose. Lee and Vincent (2021) found that the measurement of individual concepts of the TPB differ across different terms. Most researchers developed their own questionnaires based on Ajzen and Francis et al.'s (2004) guidance manual.

For this study, the behavior is reporting medication errors and the target is Saudi nurses. The action is reporting and documenting the nurse's own medication errors. The context is two Arar hospitals, and the time is during the past three months. Many studies, including this study, employed the manual by Ajzen and Francis et al. (2004) to guide the development and scoring method for TPB questionnaires (Gavaza, 2010; Kim et al., 2021; Lee et al., 2016; Rogers, 2020; Yami, 2015). According to this guidance manual, instruments should be developed in two stages. The first stage is conducting qualitative studies. The second stage is survey development, pilot testing, and survey administration. As shown in this study's literature review, previous researchers conducted an elicitation study (interviews) using the TPB framework to gather data on commonly held beliefs and then formatted all variables based on the TPB guidelines. The researchers also used direct measures to assess the three TPB constructs based on Ajzen and Francis et al.'s (2004) guidance manual. Prior studies found that direct measures are stronger predictors of intention than indirect measures; therefore, the direct measures of Ajzen and Francis et al.'s (2004) guidance manual were adopted for this study (see Appendix B).

# **Behavioral Intentions**

Behavioral intentions is defined here as the expected likelihood that Saudi nurses will report medication errors via hospital protocols. Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors were measured based on three items. The items asked nurses to report the extent to which they will try, plan, and intend to report medication errors that they will encounter. The strength of the behavioral intention was measured using a seven-point bipolar scale ranging from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (7). The total possible scores range from 3 to 21. Higher total scores indicate a greater intention to report medication errors.

# Attitude Toward Behavior

Attitude toward behavior is defined as the degree of the positive or negative value placed on reporting medication errors by Saudi nurses. This TPB construct was assessed using a single item, followed by items that were used to measure the nurse's overall evaluation of the behavior. The strength of the attitude toward behavior was assessed using a seven-point bipolar scale ranging from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (7) for five items: worthless versus valuable, unpleasant versus pleasant, bad versus good, unenjoyable versus enjoyable, and harmful versus beneficial. The total score from these five items indicates the nurse's overall positive or negative attitude toward reporting medication errors.

## Subjective Norms

Subjective norms are defined as the degree to which individual nurses perceive social pressure by their team (their peers and leaders) to report medication errors. It also refers to the degree to which individual nurses think their peers and leaders anticipate and support their reporting behaviors. Saudi nurses will be more likely to report errors when their managers and colleagues support or approve their reporting behaviors. Saudi nurses rated their agreement with four statements using a seven-point bipolar scale. Higher scores reflect greater social pressure to engage in the behavior.

# Perceived Behavioral Control

Perceived behavioral control is defined as Saudi nurses' perceptions of their ability and their controllability to report medication errors. According to Ajzen (2006), perceived behavioral control captures individuals' perceptions of their ability to perform a given behavior and their beliefs about the controllability of the factors that enable them to perform a behavior. When individuals have more capacities, resources, and opportunities, they will experience fewer expected obstacles, which leads to stronger perceived behavior control. Ajzen (2006) and Francis et al. (2004) developed four items to assess respondents' perceived capability and their beliefs about controllability. For this study, the four items were used to measure nurses' perceived behavioral control over reporting medication errors. The items were measured using a sevenpoint scale and the scores were summed. Higher scores indicate that Saudi nurses possess the ability to report and have control over reporting medication errors.

## **Psychometrics Analysis of TPB Questions**

As no standard TPB questionnaire is currently available, many researchers have used the format presented in Francis et al. (2004) and Ajzen's work. According to Gavaza (2010), the Cronbach's alphas are .75, .81, .71, and .95 for attitude, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and intention, respectively. These results exceed the recommended criterion of at least .70 for internal consistency (Hair et al., 2011). To obtain valid evidence of the response processes, Gavaza (2010) used a focus group to identify behavioral, perceived control, and normative beliefs and found that the three TPB constructs (attitude toward behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control) were normally distributed.

Because the three TPB constructs are considered to be predictors of the latent variable, which is intention, a formative measurement model assessment tool can be used. Hair et al. (2011) and Urbach and Ahlemann (2010) recommended statistical criteria, including multicollinearity, to assess the quality of a formative measurement model. Urbach and Ahlemann (2010) stated that, to evaluate indicator validity, the degree of multicollinearity among the formative indicators should be evaluated using variance inflation factors. Gavaza (2010) assessed multicollinearity using the correlation coefficients of the variables, tolerance, and variance inflation factors. The correlations among the constructs ranged from .14 to .55, which meets the recommended criterion that all the other constructs must be less than .70 (Urbach & Ahlemann, 2010). That is, the TPB constructs differ significantly from each other, indicating that multicollinearity is not a problem. The variance inflation factors ranged between 1.057 to 1.888, and the tolerance values ranged between 0.530 and 0.946. These values are consistent with the

recommended criteria that variance inflation factors should be less than 5 and tolerance values should be close to 1 (Hair et al., 2011). Thus, the predictors (attitude toward behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control) are not highly correlated with one another, which is consistent with Ajzen's work. The results support that Gavaza's (2010) TPB questionnaire has adequate validity and reliability.

Yami (2015) examined the usefulness of the TPB in explaining Saudi nurses' intentions to comply with a preoperative skin preparation policy. The Cronbach's alphas of the direct measures of attitude, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and behavioral intention were .93, .72, .80, .93, respectively (Yami, 2015). Rogers (2020) also used the TPB to understand medical error reporting behaviors among healthcare providers. For construct validity, Rogers used the Spearman rank correlation coefficient (*rho*) to identify the strength of the relationship between the TPB variables (attitudes, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control) and the behavioral intention variable. Yami (2015) and Rogers (2020) found that all the directly measurable TPB constructs were correlated with behavioral intention at a significance level of p < .01. These results are consistent with the TPB guidelines developed by Ajzen (2002) and Francis et al. (2004). Thus, Yami's (2015) results support the usefulness of the TPB model in predicting Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors.

Kim et al. (2021) also used a scale based on Ajzen and Francis et al.'s guidance manual (2004). They applied the TPB to identify factors that influence nurses' behaviors regarding patient safety management activities. The Cronbach's alphas were .77 for attitude, .91 for subjective norms, .88 for perceived behavioral control, and .90 for behavioral intention. These results exceed the recommended criterion for internal consistency of at least .70 (Hair et al., 2011). Kim et al. (2021) stated that, because the correlation coefficients for the variables were

not in excess of .80, multicollinearity was not a concern. For the validity tests, Kim et al. (2021) reported that the average variance extracted (AVE) was greater than its coefficient of determination ( $R^2$ ). AVEs that are higher than .50 can be used to justify the use of the construct (Hair et al., 2011). Previous findings confirm that the TPB questions that were used in this study had sufficient validity and reliability.

Lee et al. (2016) also developed a TPB questionnaire based on Ajzen and Francis et al.'s manual to identify factors that influence nurses' intentions to report incidents. Confirmatory factor analysis showed that item loadings for attitude toward behavior ranged from .77 to .92, subjective norms from .92 to .94, perceived behavioral control from .79 to .94, and intention from .80 to .94, with Cronbach's  $\alpha$  values of .85, .90, .86, and .90, respectively. Lee et al. (2016) found that the composite reliability ranged between .74 and .91 and the AVEs ranged between .51 and 0.77. These estimates are better than the recommended criteria, where composite reliability must be > .7 and the AVE must be >.5 (Hair et al., 2011). For discriminant validity, Lee et al. (2016) compared the shared variance among factors to the AVE from each factor. The results showed that the shared variance was less than the AVE. These findings indicate that the Lee et al. TPB questionnaire achieved a satisfactory level of reliability and validity.

However, various study results show some differences. For example, Gavaza (2010) and Yami (2015) found that only pharmacists' attitudes and subjective norms are significant predictors of intention, whereas Kim et al. (2021), Rogers (2020), and Lee et al. (2016) found that all the TPB constructs are significant predictors of intention. These results indicate that adding more variables, which would include psychological safety, to the TBP model may increase its predictive power (Lee et al., 2016; Rogers, 2020). Gavaza (2010) and Yami (2015) recommended adding psychosocial factors to the TPB model to predict behavioral intention. Therefore, for this study, the psychological safety variable is a reasonable construct to add to the TPB model.

## **Psychological Safety Scale**

To assess Saudi nurses' perception of psychological safety, a seven-item survey developed by Edmondson (1999), the PSS, was used for this study. Edmondson developed the PSS based on theory, observations, interviews, pilot testing, and strict scale construction protocols. The PSS has been used in both medical and non-medical professional settings across different cultures. It is comprised of two belief subscales (team psychological safety and team effectiveness) and two behavioral subscales about team learning. This study, along with others noted in this subsection, focused only on the psychological safety subscale. According to Edmondson (1999), individual team members' perception of team psychological safety is dependent on whether their team is safe to take interpersonal risks. For this study, psychological safety refers to the extent to which Saudi nurses feel psychologically safe in their team to take interpersonal risks to report medication errors. The PSS items are on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) (see Appendix C). Higher scores indicate a greater perceived sense of psychological safety among nurses, meaning that nurses are more comfortable reporting errors.

Newman et al.'s (2017) review showed that most studies of psychological safety have used Edmondson's seven-item scale. Edmondson (1999) conducted qualitative interviews to generate the scale, then tested it through psychometric analysis (N = 427), and used factor analysis to determine discriminant validity, which resulted in one factor. The inter-item correlations ranged from .28 to .48, with Cronbach's  $\alpha$  = .82. These results meet the criterion for scale internal consistency and homogeneity (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Thus, Edmondson's

scale gained attention from several researchers for examining psychological safety across different samples. For example, Lee and Dahinten (2021) conducted exploratory factor analysis that resulted in a one-factor model. Their model explained 42.0% of the variance, and factor loadings ranged from .57 to .68. Similarly, Appelbaum et al. (2016) found a one-factor model with factor loadings ranging from .33 to .76, with Cronbach's alpha of .79 for seven items. Carmeli (2007) also found one factor with seven items ranging from .70 to .86 and explained 62.10% of the variance, with Cronbach's alpha of .89. Moreover, Scheepers et al. (2018) used the seven-item to examine the relationship between physicians' perceptions of psychological safety and performance feedback from their peers. Their components analysis showed that items of the two constructs were discriminant as two different constructs. Scheepers et al. (2018) also found moderate inter-scale correlations ranging from .56 to .80, with Cronbach's alpha of .76. They reported adequate factor loadings ranging between .52 and .84.

In addition, Carmeli et al. (2009) adopted five items from Edmondson's scale. The Cronbach's alpha was .78 and factor analysis explained 23.99% of the variance, with factor loadings ranging from .62 to .76. The factor analysis produced a two-factor model for the psychological safety and learning behavior measures. The Carmeli et al. (2009) study results show that each item loaded significantly onto the scale with which the item was associated. Standardized coefficients from items to factors ranged from .51 to .85 (Carmeli et al., 2009). The results also show that each indicator variable and its respective items are statistically significant (p < .01). The relationship between indicators and constructs indicates convergent validity. Carmeli et al. (2009) also examined the discriminant validity of related concepts through confirmatory factor analysis. The results show that a three-factor solution provides a better fit with the data:  $\chi 2$  (297) = 603.2; root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) = .07. The

Carmeli et al. (2009) findings are consistent with those of other studies, including Edmondson's work, which found that psychological safety is positively associated with learning behaviors, inclusive leadership, and team cohesion (Appelbaum et al. 2016, 2020; Carmeli et al., 2009; Lee & Dahinten, 2021).

The previous findings also are consistent with Kark and Carmeli's (2009) study that showed Cronbach's alpha of .76. The results of their six-item measurement model showed acceptable fit with ( $\chi$ 2 (152) = 311.5; comparative fit index (CFI) = .90; RMSEA = .09). These findings align with the recommendation that a RMSEA that is less than .05 is good and values between 0.05 and 0.08 are acceptable (Hu & Bentler, 1999). Also, CFI  $\geq$  .95 is considered a good fit. The standardized parameter that was estimated from items to factors ranged from .51 to .91. The Kark and Carmeli (2009) findings show relationships among indicators and constructs. Kark and Carmeli (2009) also assessed two alternative measurement models and found that the three-factor model had the better fit. These results are consistent with Carmeli et al.'s (2010) study that assessed inclusive leadership, psychological safety, and employee involvement. Lee et al. (2016) demonstrated AVE of .51 and composite reliability of .75 on a five-item scale. Kessel et al. (2012) found that all four items loaded on a single factor had loadings ranging from .78 to .90, with Cronbach's alpha of .81. Thus, previous studies confirm that the PSS is a valid instrument that has psychometric properties for the psychological safety construct.

The literature also shows that the PSS has various versions with good internal consistency coefficients. Studies have demonstrated that the PSS has strong psychometric properties (Newman et al., 2017; O'Donovan et al., 2020). Studies have found Cronbach's alphas of .82 and .66 for six items (Baer & Frese, 2003; Triplett & Loh, 2018), .82 for six items (Rogers, 2020), .74 for three items (Tucker et al., 2007), .73 for four items (Nembhard &
Edmondson (2006), and .80 for seven items (Leroy et al., 2012). These cited studies confirm that psychological safety significantly correlates with other constructs in Edmondson's work, with no explanations for diverse item quantities (Ramalho & Porto, 2021). Based on the literature, the psychometric properties of Edmondson's PSS suggest evidence of high reliability, internal consistency, and discriminant validity for its application in several professions, including healthcare providers.

Despite the variety of levels of psychological safety, the literature tends to focus on the individual level (Carmeli et al., 2010; Kark & Carmeli, 2009; Lee et al., 2016; Leroy et al., 2012; Nembhard & Edmondson, 2006; Rogers, 2020; Scheepers et al. 2018). In a systematic review of the literature, Newman et al. (2017) found that 29 studies measured psychological safety at the individual level and that the most used scale was Edmondson's (1999) PSS. Ramalho and Porto (2021) investigated the viability of the psychological safety construct at the meso level. Their tests of absolute deviation and intraclass correlation coefficients showed that psychological safety with prior studies (Carmeli, 2007; Edmondson, 1999; Leroy et al., 2012; Nembhard & Edmondson, 2006; Tucker et al., 2007).

#### **Data Analysis**

SPSS software version (28) was used to analyze the data in this study. The demographic variables and sample characteristics were analyzed using descriptive statistics, which included means and standard deviations. Summated scales were created for the variables, i.e., intention, attitude toward behavior, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and psychological safety. Missing values and patterns of the variables were assessed. Before testing the regression models, the data were checked for different types of outliers. Pearson correlation coefficients

were used to calculate the association between variables. Cronbach's alpha coefficient was used to determine the reliability and internal consistency of the study's scales.

# **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

RQ1 What are the relationships between attitude towards behavior, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and the intention to report medication errors?

RQ2: What are the relationships between attitude toward reporting behavior, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, psychological safety, and the intention to report medication errors?

RQ3: How does psychological safety influence nurses' intention to report medication errors?

H<sub>1</sub>: Attitudes toward reporting a medication error have positive associations with a Saudi nurse's intention to report medication errors.

H<sub>2</sub>: Subjective norms have positive associations with a Saudi nurse's intention to report medication errors.

H<sub>3</sub>: Perceived behavioral control has positive associations with a Saudi nurse's intention to report medication errors.

H<sub>4</sub>: Psychological safety has a direct positive influence on a Saudi nurse's intention to report medication errors.

H<sub>5:</sub> Psychological safety is a moderator between attitude and intention to report medication errors.

H<sub>6:</sub> Psychological safety is a moderator between subjective norms and intention to report medication errors.

H<sub>7</sub>: Psychological safety is a moderator between perceived behavioral control and intention to report medication errors.

Figure 3 presents the hypothesized moderated model used in this study. To test the hypotheses, hierarchical and linear logistic regression analyses were conducted. Psychological safety was investigated as a contextual variable to understand the degree to which it moderates the relationship between the TPB constructs and nurses' intentions to report medication errors. Moderation analysis was conducted to assess whether or not psychological safety moderates the relationship between the TPB constructs and nurses' intentions to report medication errors. To investigate for moderation, hierarchical linear regression was conducted. First, the TPB variables were entered. Next, the psychological safety variable was entered. Finally, the product terms for the interaction between each of the three TPB variables and psychological safety were entered and were removed from the model if they were not statistically significant at the Cronbach's alpha level of 0.05.



# **Ethical Considerations**

Prior to data collection, ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Institutional Review Board at Loyola University Chicago. Permission also was obtained from the Saudi Health Department in the Northern Borders Province. The purpose, risks, and benefits of participation were explained in the invitation letters. The study was not expected to have any associated risks because the data were collected anonymously and treated confidentially. A secure file was created as part of the approval process.

# Summary

Past studies of error reporting confirm that there may be several reasons for Saudi nurses not reporting medication errors, and investigation into the predictors of Saudi nurses' behavior is limited in the literature. Therefore, a methodology is needed to discover the factors that encourage Saudi nurses to report errors, because the reasons nurses do not report errors are critical for identifying and predicting ways to improve error reporting in Saudi hospitals. Based on prior studies, this study's measures have sufficient psychometric properties and have been used across different cultures.

# CHAPTER FOUR

#### RESULTS

The purpose of this study is to use the TPB to examine the relationship between the TPB constructs (attitude towards behavior, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control) and psychological safety in order to predict Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors. The study explores the relationship between the three TPB constructs and psychological safety. This chapter describes the data preparation procedures and statistical analyses and presents the findings with regard to the sample characteristics, descriptive statistics for the study variables, correlations between variables, and main study research questions.

### **Data Preparation Procedures**

The data for this study were collected using the web-based survey tool Qualtrics XM®, hosted by Loyola University Chicago (Qualtrics, 2022), with 110 records exported from

Qualtrics into Excel (Microsoft Corporation, 2022). All variables were independently inspected for missing data. The missing data received a user-defined missing value (-99) to allow SPSS to perform computations by omitting missing values through listwise deletion. Sum scores for each study variable were calculated. Age and years of experience had 0.9 % (n = 108) missing values and unit of practice had 9.2 % (n = 99) missing values. The constructs of intention and subjective norms did not have missing values, but the remaining constructs had

at least one missing value for at least one item. The percentage of missing values across the constructs ranged from 0.9 to 2.7 percent. One participant was deleted from the study because two items of the attitude towards behavior construct were missing. Data for 109 participants were retained and analyzed.

The pattern of missing values is more significant than the number of missing values (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Missing values that are scattered randomly throughout a data matrix present less critical problems than patterned values. To identify patterns of missing values, Little's missing completely at random (MCAR) test was performed. The results are chi-square = 24.685, df = 33, and p = .851, which indicate that the missing values were MCAR. Regression imputation was utilized to replace the missing data because the amount of missing data was small, less than 5% of cases (Allison, 2001). The estimates for the missing cases were derived from a regression model that used the variables of the questionnaire items that were not missing in order to build the model.

The assumptions of regression were evaluated prior to data analysis. The assumption of the independence of observations was assessed using the Durbin-Watson statistic. A Durbin-Watson value should be 1 to 3 (Field, 2009) and is 2.05 for this study. The normal distribution of all the study variables was assessed via skewness and kurtosis; Table 1 presents the results. Byrne (2010) and Hair et al. (2010) argued that data can be normal if the skewness value is between -2 and +2 and the kurtosis value is between -7 and +7. Based on these criteria, the results shown in Table 1 indicate little skewness and kurtosis and do not differ significantly from normality. The skewness values of the intention variable indicate a substantial left skewed distribution. The kurtosis values demonstrate that the psychological safety distribution is overly peaked (leptokurtic). Also, a *z*-score was obtained by dividing the skewness and kurtosis values by their standard errors. For medium-sized samples (50 < n < 300), the absolute *z*-value should be less than 3.29, which corresponds to an alpha level of 0.05 (Kim, 2013; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Based on this criterion, the distribution of the sample is approximately normal in terms of skewness and kurtosis. Figure 4 (Appendix D) presents a histogram, normal probability (P-P) plot, and normal quantile-quantile (Q-Q) plot to describe the normality of the error distribution. The histogram illustrates that the standardized residuals of the regression analysis have a normal distribution with slight deviation.

Variables	Skewness	Standard Error	Kurtosis	Standard Error
Intention	-1.18	231	.497	.459
Attitude	.018	231	715	.459
Subjective Norm	504	231	095	.459
Perceived Behavioral Control	869	231	.621	.459
Psychological Safety	.545	231	1.490	.459

Table 1. Skewness and Kurtosis Results
--

Figure 5 (see Appendix D) presents scatter plots that were used to assess the linearity assumption. The partial regression plots do not indicate curvature in the relationships between the dependent and independent variables. Rather, the results show a relatively linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables, with some minor deviations from normality.

Figure 6 (see Appendix D) presents a residual scatter plot for the homoscedasticity assumption and shows that the residuals are evenly scattered around zero with no clear pattern. Multicollinearity was assessed by evaluating the values of the correlation coefficients of the variables, tolerance, and variance inflation factors. Independent variables should not be strongly correlated with each other when .70 and higher reflect highly correlated variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). In this study, the variance inflation factors ranged from 1.033 to 1.293 and the tolerance values ranged from .774 to .968 for all the independent variables. The results indicate no multicollinearity. Outliers were assessed using Cook's and Mahalanobis distances. Mahalanobis distance values range from .09 to 18.87. In this study, the critical value of the Chi-square ( $X^2$ ) distribution at p = 0.01 (df = 4) was 18.467. Cook's distance values range from .0 to .192, with a cutoff value of 1 (Cook, 1977). In this study, the standardized residual values ranged from -2.84 to 2.18. These results indicate no extreme outliers and, thus, all the regression assumptions are met.

# **Participants' Characteristics**

This study had a total of 109 participants who completed the survey. All were Saudi nurses. Table 2 presents a summary of the participants' demographic statistics. Most participants were between 30 and 39 years old (58.7% of the study sample). Most (41.3%) were working in medical units. Of the participants, 41.3% had worked in their profession for more than ten years. Nearly half the sample (57.8%) reported having a bachelor's degree.

Table 2. Demographic Characteristics of Sample

Factor	Sample		
	n (%)		
Year of Experience			
2-5	29 (26.6)		
6-10	34 (31.2)		
More than 10	45 (41.3)		

0	
Under 30 years old	32 (29.4)
30- 39 years old	64 (58.7)
40-49 years old	12 (11)
Over 50 years old	0
Level of Education	
Diploma	46 (41.2)
BSN	63 (57.8)
MSN	0
Doctoral	0
Unit of Practice	
Medical Unit	45 (41.3)
Surgical Unit	28 (25.7)
Intensive Care Unit	26 (23.9)

*Note*: *N* = 109.

Age

## **Descriptive Statistics**

Table 3 presents the overall range, means, and standard deviations (SDs) for the items of intention, attitude toward behavior, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, and psychological safety. The average score for intention is 16.06 (SD = 5.12), indicating that participants were likely to intend to report medication errors. For subjective norms, the average score is 17.39 (SD = 5.56), indicating that participants had moderately positive perceptions about social pressure from important referents (people important to them) to report medication errors. The average score for attitude is 23.34 (SD = 7.38), indicating a moderately positive overall evaluation of reporting medication errors. For behavioral control, the average score is 20.09 (SD = 5.75), indicating that participants had moderately high perceptions about their ability, controllability, and confidence to report medication errors. The average score for psychological

safety is 20.70 (SD = 4.93), which suggests that the nursing team had some level of

psychological safety in their units, but that it could be increased.

Variables	<i>M</i> (SD)	Range	
Intention	16.06 (5.128)	3-21	
Attitude	23.34 (7.38)	6 - 35	
Subjective Norm	17.39 (5.569)	4 - 28	
Perceived Behavioral Control	20.098 (5.759)	4 - 28	
Psychological Safety	20.70 (4.93)	7 - 35	

Table 3. Theory of Planned Behavior Predictors and Psychological Safety Range, Mean, and Standard Deviation Results

Table 4 presents the Pearson correlation coefficients that were calculated to determine the correlations between each TPB construct and psychology safety. The results demonstrate that intention (to report medication errors) is significantly correlated with all the TPB constructs at the p < .001 level, with weak correlations between attitude and subjective norms (r = .354, p < .001) and perceived behavioral control (r = .389, p < .001). Subjective norms are significantly correlated with perceived behavioral control (r = .352, p < .001). However, psychological safety is not significantly correlated with any of the TPB constructs. Perceived behavior control is negatively correlated, but not significantly so, with psychological safety (r = .060, p = .537).

Measures	1	2	3	4	5
1 Intention	1				
2 Attitude	.497**	1			
3 Subject Norms	.488**	.354**	1		
4 Perceived Behavioral Control	.478**	.389**	.352**	1	
5 Psychological Safety	.168 p = .081	.132 p = .172	.018 p = .851	060 p = .537	1

Table 4. Correlations between Theory of Planned Behavior Constructs and Psychological Safety

*Note:* \*\*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed); N = 109

## **Internal Consistency**

Reliability estimates of all study's scales were computed and examined. Cronbach's alpha values were .76, .80, .75, and .89 for attitude, norms, perceived control behavior, and intention respectively. Cronbach's alpha for the entire scale of 16 items was .861. Removal of the item "I feel under social pressure from my colleagues" would lead to a small improvement in Cronbach's alpha (.879). The findings indicate that removing any other items from the TPB measure could lead to a decrease in Cronbach's alpha. According to Hair et al. (2011), Cronbach's alpha values lower than 0.60 are not reliable. The results show a high level of internal consistency for the TPB measure.

The psychological safety scale's Cronbach's alpha was .612. George and Mallery (2003) provided the following rules: > .9 - Excellent, > .8 - Good, > .7 - Acceptable, > .6 - questionable. The findings demonstrate that removing item 6 from the scale caused an increase in Cronbach's alpha to .636. On the other hand, eliminating any items other than item 6 from the scale would result in a lower Cronbach's alpha. The previous results indicate lower internal consistency of the scale.

## **Research Questions**

*RQ1* What is the relationship between attitude towards behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control (the three TPB constructs) and the intention to report medication errors?

Linear regression analysis was used to answer Research Question 1 and address the corresponding hypotheses. The three TPB constructs (attitude towards behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control) were entered into the model in two phases to understand their separate roles in nurses' intentions to report medication errors. In the first phase, each construct in the TPB model was tested individually, and in the second phase, all constructs were tested simultaneously.

**Phase 1:** Attitude towards behavior explained 24.7% of the variance in the intention scores,  $R^2 = .247$ ,  $R^2_{adj} = .240$ , F(1,107) = 35.051, p < .001. The results indicate that attitude towards behavior can predict intention to report medication errors with statistical significance. The effect of attitude towards behavior on intention is significant (unstandardized coefficients  $\{B\} = .575$ , SE = .097, p < .001 and standardized coefficients  $\{\beta\} = .497$ , t = 5.92, p < .001). Subjective norms also emerged as a significant predictor that accounts for 23.8% of the variance in intention scores,  $R^2 = .238$ ,  $R^2_{adj} = .231$ , F(1,107) = 33.497, p < .001. The effect of attitude towards behavior on intention to report medication errors is significant,  $\{B\} = .599$ , SE = .104, p< .001) and  $\{\beta\} = .488$ , t = 5.78, p < .001). Perceived behavioral control is a significant predictor that accounts for 22.8% of the variance in intention scores,  $R^2 = .228$ ,  $R^2_{adj} = .221$ , F(1,107) =31.681, p < .001. The effect of perceived behavioral control on intention to report medication errors is significant,  $\{B\} = .567$ , SE = .101, p < .001) and  $\{\beta\} = .478$ , t = 5.629, p < .001). **Phase 2**: When all the variables were entered into the regression equation, they emerged as significant predictors that explained 41.3% of the variance in intention scores ( $R^2 = .413$ ,  $R^2_{adj}$  = .396, *F* (3,105) = 24.594, *p* <. 001). The effect of attitude towards behavior on intention to report medication errors is significant ( $\beta = .291$ , *t* = 3.472, *p* < .001). Also, the effects of subjective norms and perceived behavioral control on intention are significant ( $\beta = .293$ , *t* = 3.549, *p* < .001 and  $\beta = .261$ , *t* = 3118, *p* = .002, respectively). These findings show that the ranking (highest to lowest) of the contributing predictors to explain nurses' intention to report medication errors are subjective norms ( $\beta = .293$ ), attitude towards behavior ( $\beta = .291$ ), and lastly, perceived behavioral control ( $\beta = .261$ ).

# *RQ2*: What is the relationship between attitude toward behavior, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and psychological safety, and the intention to report medication errors?

The impact of psychological safety on nurses' intentions to report medication errors also was investigated in this study. Psychological safety was included in the regression model only to predict intention. The regression model explained a 2.8% variation in intention, and psychological safety was not a significant predictor, F(1, 107) = 3.112, p = .081. The effect of psychological safety on intention was not significant in the regression model ({B} = .407, SE = .231, p = .08 and { $\beta$ } = .168, t = 1.764, p = .08). The addition of psychological safety to the TPB model increased the amount of variance in intention from 41.3% to 43.3% ( $R^2_{adj}$ = .411). However, the additional 2% variance was not significant ( $R^2$  change = .020, p < .057). After psychological safety was added to the TPB model, it became a statistically significant predictor (F (4,104) = 19.851, p < .001), but its effect on intention was not significant ( $\beta$  = .145, t = 1.928, p = .057). The most significant predictor of nurses' intention to report medication errors is subjective norms ( $\beta$  = .293), followed by perceived behavioral control ( $\beta$  = .280), and then attitude toward behavior ( $\beta$  = .265).

# RQ3: How does psychological safety influence the intention to report medication errors?

Moderation analysis was conducted to investigate the effect of psychological safety on each of the three TPB constructs while controlling for participant age, level of education, unit of practice, and years of experience. Hierarchical multiple regression was conducted with meancentered predictor variables to test the hypotheses. The steps are as follows:

Step 1: Enter demographic variables to control their effects.

Step 2: Enter the TPB constructs.

Step 3: Add the psychological safety variable.

Step 4: Enter the product terms for the interaction between each of the three TPB constructs and psychological safety.

The moderation analysis results demonstrate the variance in intention scores with statistical significance,  $R^2 = .483$ ,  $R^2_{adj} = .417$ , F(11,85) = 7.233, p < .001. The addition of the interaction terms increased the amount of variance in intention by 5.3% (from 43.1% to 48.3%). Psychological safety became a statistically significant predictor and its effect on intention was significant ( $\beta = .253$ , t = 2.863, p = .005). The effect of the interaction between attitude towards behavior and psychological safety was both negative and significant ( $\beta = .233$ , t = -2.380, p = .020). The effect of the interaction between subjective norms and psychological safety was positive and significant ( $\beta = .258$ , t = 2.544, p = .013). However, no significant interaction effect is evident between perceived behavioral control and psychological safety with regard to the intention to report medication errors ( $\beta = .0.28$ , t = -.302, p = .764). The results suggest that psychological safety is a significant moderator of the effects of subjective norms and attitude

towards behavior on the intention to report medication errors but is not a significant moderator of the effects of perceived behavioral control on the intention to report medication errors.

Additionally, the product terms for the interaction between each of the three TPB constructs and psychological safety were entered individually into the model to understand the role of interaction on nurses' intentions to report medication errors. The demographic variables were entered to control their effects. Hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted to test whether or not psychological safety moderates the relationship between subjective norms and the intention to report medication errors. The subjective norms and psychological safety variables account for 27.8% of the variance in intention (adjusted  $R^2 = 23\%$ ) and indicate the significance of the model ( $R^2 = .278$ , F (6, 90) = 5.784, p < .001). Next, the interaction term between subjective norms and psychological safety was added to the regression model, which accounts for 28.9% of the variance in intention,  $R^2 = .289$ , F (7,89) = 5.180, p < .001. The effect of the interaction errors is not significant ( $\beta = .006$ , SE = .005, p = .240 and  $\beta = .113$ , t = 1.183, p = .240). These results suggest that psychological safety is not a significant moderator of the effects of subjective norms on intention.

A second hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted to test whether or not psychological safety moderates the relationship between perceived behavioral control and intention to report medication errors. Perceived behavioral control and psychological safety account for 27% of the variance in the intention scores (adjusted  $R^2 = .221\%$ ) and resulted in a significant model ( $R^2 = .270$ , F(6,90) = 5.547, p < .001. The interaction term between perceived behavioral control and psychological safety was added to the regression model, which accounted for a significant proportion of the variance in intention,  $R^2 = .271$ , F(7, 89) = 4.701, p < .001.

The effect of the interaction between perceived behavioral control and psychological safety on intention is not significant ( $\beta = .002$ , t = .018, p = .986). These results suggest that psychological safety is not a significant moderator of the effects of perceived behavioral control on the intention to report medication errors.

A third and final hierarchical linear regression analysis was conducted to assess the relationship between attitude toward behavior and intention to report medication errors. Attitude toward behavior and psychological safety account for 25.9% of the variance in intention scores (adjusted  $R^2 = 21\%$ ) and resulted in a significant model ( $R^2 = .210$ , *F* (6, 90) = 5.241, *p* < .001. The interaction term accounts for 28.3% of the variance in intention,  $R^2 = .283$ , *F* (7,89) = 5.013, *p* < .001. The effect of the interaction between attitude and psychological safety on intention is negative and not significant ( $\beta = ..161$ , *t* = -1.721, *p* = .089). These results suggest that psychological safety is not a significant moderator of the effect of attitude towards behavior on intention to report medication errors. However, after the interaction terms between subjective norms and psychological safety and between perceived behavioral control and psychological safety were added to the model, psychological safety became statistically important ( $\beta = .193$ , *p* = .040 and  $\beta = .205$ , *p* = .028, respectively).

## **Evaluation of the Study Model**

Table 5 shows that the best regression model accounts for the variance in intention scores with statistical significance,  $R^2 = .483$ ,  $R^2_{adj} = 417$ , F(11,85) = 7.233, p < .001. According to the  $R^2_{adj}$  result, all of the independent variables added value to the model. The model explains the greatest amount of variance (48.4%) of the intention to report medication errors. However, 51.6% of the variation was caused by factors other than the predictors included in this model.

The addition of the interaction terms increased the amount of variance in intention by 5.3%

(from 43.1% to 48.3%).

Table 5. Regression Analysis for the Theory of Planned Behavior Constructs and Psychological Safety on Intention

Predictors	$R^2$	$R^{2}_{Adj}$	Standardized	t	<i>p</i> -value
			coefficient β		
	.483	.417			
Attitude* Psych	ological Safety		233	2.380	.020*
Norms* Psycho	logical Safety		.258	2.544	.013*
PBC * Psycholo	ogical Safety		0.28	302	.764

*Note*: Statistical significance: \**p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01, \*\*\*, *p* < .001

PBC is perceived behavioral control.

## Summary

This study aimed to identify the impacts of the TPB constructs and psychological safety as predictors on Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors. Over half of the nurses who participated in this study were aged between 30 and 39 years old and had a bachelor's degree. Most of the nurses had over ten years of experience in their units and the majority of participants worked in medical units. Correlation analysis revealed no relationship between the TPB constructs and psychological safety as predictors. Linear regression analysis revealed that the TPB constructs are significant predictors for Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors whereas psychological safety is not a significant predictor for Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors. However, the study shows that psychological safety is a significant moderator for the effects of attitude towards behavior and subjective norms on the intention to report medication errors.

#### CHAPTER FIVE

## DISCUSSION

This chapter begins with a review of the major findings of the study, followed by discussion of the predictors of Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors. The strengths and limitations of the research also are presented. The chapter concludes with discussion of the implications of the study findings for nursing practice and education, as well as recommendations for future research.

Preventing catastrophic events is especially critical in healthcare environments where medication errors may occur in a highly complex environment. Because nurses are responsible for administrating medications, their perceptions, attitudes, and norms regarding reporting behavior need to be examined. Further, understanding nurses' reasons for not reporting medication errors is essential to improving patient safety and providing safe medical practice. This study revealed the utility of the Theory Planned Behavior (TPB) constructs and psychological safety to predict Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors. The study is important due to the lack of research (especially as it pertains to Saudi hospitals) into relationships between psychological safety and the TPB constructs. This study is believed to be the first to have identified factors that influence Saudi nurses' intentions to report medications should focus on work conditions where human errors occur and identify factors that affect Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors in order to develop interventions that allow for a safer work environment.

The findings demonstrate that the TPB constructs have predictive efficacy for Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors. The study shows that psychological safety is not a significant antecedent to reporting error and that Saudi nurses' norms are the most significant predictor of nurses' intentions to report medication errors.

# **Theory of Planned Behavior Constructs**

### **Intention to Report Medication Errors**

The most important factor that is linked to the actual reporting of medication errors is the intention to do so (Secginli et al. 2021). Intention is crucial for actual behavior, and thus, understanding the concept of intention is necessary before developing interventions to improve medication error reporting (Secginli et al. 2021). Further, understanding the processes involved in volitional behavior, which includes intention, is crucial (Secginli et al. 2021). In this study, Saudi nurses had intentions to report medication errors, which indicates that nurses want to report errors. The higher the level of intention, the greater the behavioral intention to report medication errors. Ekayani et al. (2017) found that nurses with high levels of intention to report medication errors were able to improve their behavior in reporting medication errors. The regression analysis results obtained in this study demonstrate that the combination of all three TPB constructs can be useful in predicting Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors.

# **Attitude Toward Behavior**

The survey results show that most nurses who participated in this study had a positive attitude towards reporting medication errors. Nurses responded that medication error reporting was valuable (75.2), pleasant (40.3%), good (78%), enjoyable (37.6), and beneficial (61.4%).

However, they also reported that medication error reporting was harmful (29.4%), unenjoyable (52.3%), bad (13.8%), unpleasant (48.6%), and worthless (22%). The findings suggest that, although most Saudi nurses have a favorable attitude toward medication error reporting, some nurses believe that doing so is not beneficial to them or the organization and could even cause harm to them, and that the experience of medication error reporting is unpleasant and unenjoyable. The negative beliefs might discourage Saudi nurses from reporting medication errors.

#### **Subjective Norms**

Most of the nurses responded that most people who are important to them (family members, peers, etc.) think that nurses should report medication errors (55.1%) whereas other nurses (35%) responded the opposite. Nurses responded that people they value in their lives would approve of their reporting medication errors (65%) whereas others (27.5%) reported that those people would disapprove. Some nurses responded that reporting medication errors was expected of them (66.1%) while others (70.6%) felt they were not under any social pressure from their family and peers to report such errors. These findings indicate the importance of subjective norms in developing the intention to report medication errors and that nurses perceive great social influence from their significant others to support their reporting behavior.

# **Perceived Behavioral Control**

Some nurses responded that reporting medication errors was easy to do (62.4%) whereas others (28.5%) found it difficult to do. Some nurses responded that they have complete control over reporting (69.7%) whereas others (18.4%) reported they did not. Nurses responded that they had the ability to report medication errors (81.7%) and that reporting medication errors was completely up to them (60.6%). These findings indicate that nurses perceive themselves to have

some control over reporting practice and that they are responsible for whether or not they report medication errors. In contrast, other TPB studies have found that the perceived behavioral control construct, across a wide range of behaviors, does not contribute in any statistically significant way to the TPB model (Gavaza et al., 2017; Rogers et al., 2017).

# **Correlation among Constructs of the TPB**

This study found that the TPB constructs of attitude towards behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control had significant correlations of varying intensity with Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors. For example, the more positive nurses' attitudes are toward reporting medication errors, the stronger their perceived behavioral control to report such errors will be. Also, the greater the strength of the subjective norms, the greater their intention to report medication errors. These results parallel similar findings reported in several studies based on the TPB (Catalano et al., 2021; Ditching et al. 2020; Kim et al., 2021: Lee et al., 2016; Natan et al. 2017; Nelson et al., 2014; Rich et al. 2020; Rogers, 2020; Secginli et al. 2021; Williams et al. 2015; Yami, 2015). However, Lapkin et al. (2015) found a weak negative relationship and non-significance between subjective norms and intention to report errors, and Rogers et al. (2017) reported that perceived behavioral control is not correlated with intent, attitude, and subjective norms.

#### **Correlation between the TPB Constructs and Psychological Safety**

This study found that psychological safety does not correlate with all the TPB constructs. Perceived behavior control is correlated negatively, but not significantly, with psychological safety. This finding is inconsistent with that of other studies that found psychological safety to be positively associated with nurses' intention to report errors (Appelbaum et al., 2016; Catalano et al. 2021; Lee & Dahinten, 2021) and to be correlated with all the TPB constructs (Catalano et al 2021; Lee et al., 2016).

## **Predicting Nurses' Intention to Report Medication Errors**

The results of the regression analysis identified that all three TPB constructs (subjective norms, attitude towards behavior, and perceived behavioral control) are significant predictors for reporting medication errors. This finding is consistent with previous TPB research (Alhamad & Donyai, 2020; Angelis et al., 2017: Ditching et al., 2020; Hagger et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2016; Natan et al., 2017; Rich et al., 2020; Tai et al., 2016; Williams et al., 2015). However, other studies found that only attitude towards behavior and perceived behavioral control are significantly and positively related to intention (Ekayani et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2019: Lapkin et al., 2015; Rogers, 2020; Secginli et al., 2021; Tabak & Fleishman, 2011). Studies also have found that attitude towards behavior and subjective norms are statistically significant TPB constructs and that perceived behavioral control is not a significant predictor (Gavaza et al., 2017; Hung et al., 2016; Rogers et al., 2017; Yami, 2015). The inconsistency in study results may be attributed to differences in cultures and norms. This study's results indicate that Saudi nurses who have a positive attitude toward reporting, who believe that others in their social circle would approve of their behavior, and who perceive themselves as having control over the reporting would have a high level of behavioral intention towards reporting medication errors.

This study found subjective norms to be the strongest predictor of intention. Other studies also found subjective norms to be the strongest predictor of intention (Alhamad & Donyai, 2020; Gavaza et al. 2017; Tai et al., 2016). Thus, encouraging a culture of positive subjective norms toward reporting medication errors among Saudi nurses is needed. Salami and Alhalal (2020) reported that social norms have an important impact on behavior and Lapkin et al. (2015) found

that individuals are more likely to perform a behavior that is encouraged and admissible within their circle of influence. Therefore, when nurses feel that their peers support them and that their own errors will not lead to punishment, they will not fear reporting errors (Natan et al. 2017).

The study's findings show that Saudi nurses are influenced by the opinions of people who are important to them. In this study, Saudi nurses were more likely to report medication errors because the people who are important to them approve or believe that reporting medication errors is important to do. Thus, nurses perceive this to be the norm in their teams. Even if this study focused on nurses' individual perceived levels of social pressure to report errors, their individuals' perceptions consider collective norms. However, nurses may accept their teams' norms, which consider error reporters as whistleblowers. This pressure impacts nurses' willingness to report errors. On the other hand, when nursing teams consider reporting behavior as useful and important, nurses' willingness to report will be high. The negative responses of nurses' peers, managers, or family leads nurses to be concerned about social pressures. Nursing teams may possess common beliefs that accept the risks that are related to reporting behavior. Therefore, Saudi nurses may adjust their behaviors to comply with the preferences of their peers, family, and mangers even if the nurses' own choices and preferences are different.

In Saudi Arabian society, families are a central component and the frame of the identity of individuals. For Saudis, the family has an important role in people's decision-making (Woodman et al., 2022). Saudi culture is known as a collectivistic culture and, as such, Saudis value group membership and are faithful to their group (Salami & Alhalal, 2020), which may lead Saudi nurses to be influenced by others' opinions rather than to make independent decisions. Alanazi et al. (2020) confirmed that the strength of personal relationships and a religiosity factor can significantly impact intention and compliance behaviors. AlBar and Hoque (2019) found that the opinions of family members and friends impact the decision of nurses to use e-health services in Saudi Arabia. This is consistent with Alluhidan et al. (2020) who found that Saudi nurses appreciated their family life, which pressures them to align nursing work and family commitments.

It seems likely that Saudi nurses comply with their team norms, especially those at a societal level. These social values are influenced by their Islamic values. Some Saudi families may consider reporting errors as incompetent and unacceptable behavior. This can result in an internal conflict of social norms and professional obligations among nurses. Therefore, Saudi nurses may adjust their behaviors to comply with the preferences of their peers, family, and friends even if the nurses' own choices and preferences are different. Salami and Alhalal (2020) suggest that professional counseling and social support are needed to assist nurses in making the right decisions regarding error reporting. This study found that, understanding Saudi nurses' subjective norms at Arar hospitals helps to explain and predict the practice of medication error reporting.

On the other hand, some studies found that attitude towards behavior, not subjective norms, is the strongest predictor of intention to report medication errors (Dionisi et al., 2020; Lapkin et al., 2015; Secginli et al., 2021). For example, Yami (2015) found that attitude towards behavior is the strongest predictor of nurses' behavioral intentions to comply with a pre-operative skin preparation policy, followed by subjective norms. Williams et al. (2015) and Rogers (2020) found that perceived behavioral control is the strongest predictor of the intention to report medication errors. Similarly, Kim et al. (2021) found that perceived behavioral control is the most influential factor for patient safety management activities, followed by subjective norms and then attitude toward behavior. Although Saudi hospitals have reporting systems, there is a lack of adherence to these systems, which ultimately impacts safe patient care. All of the TPB constructs can be used as significant contributions to creating effective interventions that aim to improve reporting behaviors. A useful method to increase reporting rates is to assess professionals' attitudes that relate to reporting medical errors, because a negative attitude towards reporting decreases the likelihood of reporting (Archer et al., 2017; Korhan et al., 2017). When nurses have negative attitudes toward reporting, negative norms prevail. That is, nurses will want to avoid the negative consequences of reporting medication errors. Therefore, even if nurses have high levels of perceived control over reporting, they will not be confident in their ability to report medication errors, which will lead to an increase in underreporting. The factors that might obstruct or motivate Saudi nurses in Arar hospitals to report medication errors and the factors that influence their beliefs about reporting medication errors need to be identified in order to predict intention to report such errors.

# **Psychological Safety**

Understanding Saudi nurses' behavior helps to explain and predict the practice of medication error reporting with regard to providing high-quality care. Saudi nurses reported that making a mistake on their team was held against them (65.1%) and that they were not able to bring up problems with their team members (53.2%). Nurses responded that their team rejects others for being different (21.1%) and that it is not safe to take risks (62.3%). Nurses also responded that asking other team members for help is difficult (44.9%) and that the team deliberately acts to undermine their efforts (55.1%). Nurses responded that their skills and talents were not valued and utilized (49.5%).

The study's literature review affirms the importance of psychological safety in healthcare practice. Psychological safety is important in healthcare settings where nurses work in interprofessional and interdisciplinary environments (Hunt et al., 2021). In environments without psychological safety, professionals can be inadequately motivated to report errors that might cause harm to patients (Moureaud et al. 2021). Miao et al. (2020) showed that the lack of psychological safety in a work environment contributes to a decrease in workers' cooperation and organizational harmony. Miao et al. (2020) reported that workers need to feel a sense of safety and build trust in the organization as a prerequisite and warranty for innovative behavior. Healthcare organizations may find it difficult to encourage employees to report medication errors because nurses tend to avoid any actions that could have a negative influence on them or their careers. Lee and Dahinten (2021) confirmed that fear of reporting errors contributes to discouraging nurses to participate in improving patient safety and quality of care. Thus, organizations with low levels of psychological safety cause their employees to be less likely to report or express their safety concerns. Aljabari & Kadhim (2021) argued that, in order to enhance error reporting rates, work environments should provide psychological safety, which is consistent with Gilmartin et al.'s (2018) findings. When the level of psychological safety is low, healthcare providers cannot express themselves freely, and their fear makes them avoid offering suggestions or opinions (Naveh & Katz-Navon, 2014).

Psychological safety impacts nurses' intention to report errors or speak up about safety issues (O'Donovan & McAuliffe, 2020; Remtulla et al., 2021; Scheepers et al. 2018; Soola et al. 2021). In a psychologically safe environment, nurses are more likely to report errors because they do not fear disapproval or blame from others. Promoting a climate of psychological safety helps increase staff willingness to report errors (Naveh & Katz-Navon, 2014). Grailey et al. (2021b) stated that, when individuals feel psychologically safe, their errors and mistakes will be recognized, raised, and corrected earlier, which in turn leads to a decrease in the risk of serious harm to patients. Stühlinger et al. (2021) found that psychological safety allows individuals to show their true selves.

Several studies have identified psychological safety as a significant predictor of reporting errors in healthcare organizations (Appelbaum et al., 2016; Derickson et al., 2015; Edmondson & Lei, 2014; Lee et al., 2016; Lee & Dahinten, 2021; Munn, 2016; Pfeiffer et al., 2010). However, this study's results show that psychological safety is not a significant factor in predicting Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors. Interestingly, after the interaction terms were added to the model (i.e., psychological safety together with all the TPB constructs), psychological safety became a statistically significant predictor of intention to report medication errors. Although psychological safety is not a significant predictor by itself, adding psychological safety to the TPB model nonetheless made it become a statistically significant predictor for reporting medication errors.

# **Moderation Analysis**

The results of the moderation analysis conducted in this study show the effect of psychological safety on each of the three TPB constructs while controlling for demographic variables. Newman et al.'s (2017) systematic review revealed that psychological safety can be a moderator. They mentioned that psychological safety moderated the relationship between team priority of safety and reporting of treatment errors. The relationship is stronger for teams who have high levels of psychological safety. Naveh and Katz-Navon (2014) reported that individuals who have high adherence to procedures will cause more reporting of errors when psychological safety is high. The findings reveal that psychological safety serves to strengthen the effect of

subjective norms. In a psychologically safe environment, shared norms and values influence other team members' willingness to speak up (O'Donovan & McAuliffe, 2020). Nurses do not want to behave differently from other members of their team and may decide not to report medication errors because of their fear of adverse responses from colleagues and managers. Thus, nurses feel greater social pressure to cohere with their team's norms when their behavior does not match their team's norms.

In a safe psychological environment, nurses are willing to change their behavior in order to be accepted in their team, regardless of their attitudes, norms, and controllability. This study also confirms that psychological safety serves to weaken the effect of attitude toward behavior. Saudi nurses in Arar hospitals put less value on their perceptions and evaluations of reporting systems in a safe psychological environment. Also, this study found no significant interaction effect between perceived behavioral control and psychological safety, which indicates that psychological safety is not a significant moderator of the effects of perceived behavioral control on intention to report medication errors.

These results are not consistent with those of other studies. Catalano et al. (2021) reported that the impacts of perceived norms, attitudes, and perceived control on intention can be strengthened by psychological safety. Stühlinger et al. (2021) also reported no significant interaction effect between perceived subjective norms and psychological safety on intention but did find a significant interaction effect between attitude towards behavior and psychological safety on the intention to get vaccinated. Stühlinger et al. (2021) explained that attitude towards behavior and perceived subjective norms are interrelated, so when individuals have a strong positive or negative attitude toward a behavior, they might believe that other people have a similar attitude, which is interpreted as an attitude-congruent perceived norm. Stühlinger et al. (2021) further explained that when a team has strong positive or negative subjective norms regarding a behavior, a team member might assimilate their personal attitude to be in accord with the perceived norms.

When the product terms for the interaction between each of the three TPB variables and psychological safety were entered into the model individually, the effect of the interaction on the intention to report errors was not significant. This result is consistent with that found by other researchers (Catalano et al., 2021; Rogers, 2020).

## **Reliability Results**

The Cronbach's alpha of the psychological safety scale (.621) was lower than other studies, where their Cronbach's α values ranged from .76. to .82 (Appelbaum et al., 2016; Carmeli, 2007; Carmeli et al., 2009; Edmondson, 1999; Kark and Carmeli, 2009; Lee et al., 2016; Lee & Dahinten, 2021; Mahmoud et al., 2022; Rogers, 2020; Scheepers et al., 2018; Stühlinger et al., 2021).

Previous studies did not validate the psychological safety scale in the Saudi context. Psychological safety literature in Arabic countries, especially in the Saudi context, is lacking. The focus of psychological safety literature is on English-speaking cultures (Mahmoud et al. (2022). Therefore, most researchers suggested more cross-cultural validation of the psychological safety scales (Edmondson & Lei, 2014; Mahmoud et al., 2022). There are also differences between the Western world and developing countries in the cultural aspects. These differences create threats against the appropriateness of adopting constructs (Mahmoud et al., 2022).

In addition, the level of analysis could impact the reliability of the psychological safety scale. This study conceptualized psychological safety as an individual-level construct. Many

researchers argued that there are not clear differences between individual psychological safety and team psychological safety, except in the object of measurement (Abror, 2017; Edmondson, 1999; Edmondson et al., 2016; Frazier et al., 2017). They explained that when individuals feel safe, they will engage with their teams. Zhang et al. (2010) discovered that individual psychological safety is an antecedent of team psychological safety. Abror (2017) found that there is a positive and significant relationship between individual psychological safety and team psychological safety. The literature of psychological safety shows similar findings across levels of analysis (Edmondson & Lei, 2014; Frazier et al., 2017).

The literature review demonstrates that researchers deal with psychological safety as homogeneous concept across different levels of analysis. According to Newman et al.'s (2017) systematic review of the literature and Hunt et al. (2021), many studies that measured individual psychological safety used Edmondson's (1999) measure. The Edmondson scale was designed at the group level. Newman et al.'s (2017) systematic review noted that there are limited examinations of how individual and team levels interacts to impact psychological safety. Cross-level designs were used in all studies to investigate how psychological safety at the team level predicts individual level outcomes. This may cause a limited understanding of psychological safety. O'Donovan and McAuliffe (2020) demonstrate that there is a dearth of research on cross-level and multilevel studies on psychological safety. This may affect the understanding of whether psychological safety differs among teams in the organizations.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

This study is a valuable contribution to Saudi nursing literature because it illustrates the applicability of the TPB to the professional behavior of Saudi nurses. The TPB was employed in this study to understand nurses' reporting behaviors because it is the most common theoretical approach to understanding behaviors and attitudes and has been applied previously to investigate medication safety practices (Secginli et al. 2021). The TPB also has been utilized extensively to predict, explain, and modify health-related behaviors (Ajzen & Schmidt, 2020; Hagger et al. 2022). The questionnaire designed for this study is based on the TPB and was created using published guidelines (Azjen, 2005; Francis et al., 2004) and is reliable and valid.

However, this study had some limitations. First, data were collected using a crosssectional design, so reporting behavior could not be analyzed over a period of time. Second, data were collected from a convenience sample at only two hospitals in Arar City, so the findings cannot be generalized to all Saudi hospitals. Third, all data were collected using self-report questionnaires, which could lead to self-reporting bias. Fourth, the sample was limited to nurses who were working in medical, surgical, and intensive care units. Fifth, although demographic variables were controlled in the study, unmeasured or unknown factors could contribute to the associations found in this study. Many factors can influence psychological safety, such as leadership and nurses' concerns regarding the negative consequences of reporting errors. Stühlinger et al. (2021) argued that studies that examine psychological safety consequences need to consider possible unintended impacts that might prevent or outweigh the beneficial effects that are the focus of the studies. Finally, no statistically rigorous measurements of psychological safety are available in the context of healthcare, which could hinder investigations into psychological safety antecedents and implications for healthcare (Ito et al., 2022). For this study, the psychological safety scale has low reliability, which might affect the results.

# **Implications for Nursing and Future Research**

# **Implications for Nursing Practice**

Understanding the factors that influence Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors provides insight into strategies that hospitals can implement to increase and reinforce medication error reporting. This study found that all the TPB constructs are important in designing interventions to improve a reporting culture. This study shows that subjective norms as a construct has an especially important role in the intention to report medication errors and should be considered when developing interventions to improve reporting behaviors. Therefore, nursing leaders need to measure and assess if their organizational norms contribute to establishing psychological safety. Hospitals also should pay attention to professional counseling outcomes and social support to reinforce nurses' reporting practices. The findings of this study can help to establish guidelines for developing an understanding of the determinants of nurses' intentions toward reporting medication errors. The findings also can be beneficial for policymakers and healthcare providers in Saudi Arabia to develop strategies and policies to improve reporting errors by applying all the TPB constructs. In short, this study provides an improved understanding of the predictors of error reporting in order to develop interventions for improved reporting practice and ultimately reduce medical errors.

# **Implications for Nursing Research**

This study is the first known study to report factors that influence Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors in Arar City hospitals using the TPB. No research has been conducted regarding Saudi nurses' intention to report medication errors in hospital settings as well as whether or not the TPB constructs, and psychological safety can predict Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors. The results of this study can encourage other researchers to start examining the TPB constructs and psychological safety in greater depth. The findings also provide a solid foundation for Saudi researchers to develop useful nursing interventions for reporting errors. Future research needs to focus on understanding the lack of association between psychological safety and the TPB constructs.

This psychological safety research focused on the individual level. Therefore, a valuable extension would be to examine psychological safety on an organizational or team level. This study did not find psychological safety to be a significant predictor of reporting medication errors, and therefore using a different measure that focuses on individual level of psychological safety may impact the study result. The results require further investigations before generalizing inferences that were drawn from one level of analysis to other levels.

The proposed theoretical model shows on a very basic level how psychological safety can act as a moderator in the prediction of behavior. Psychological safety in the model might be in the incorrect place, so the proposed model gives other researchers ways to modify the model to accurately predict individual behavior. The literature review demonstrates that psychological safety affects TBP constructs and is a predictor of intention. Future research can use psychological safety as a predictor with (attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived control). Future studies still need to examine whether the model holds in other contexts and with other behaviors. There is a need to examine norms and psychological safety at the team level since this study focused on the individual level. There is also a need to study which factors can influence Saudi nurses' behaviors or norms to report errors. The relationship between nurses' intentions to report medication errors and their demographic characteristics also needs to be explored further in future research. Future research should replicate this study using a wider national sample of nurses working in different types of hospital units and should extend the TPB model to include additional variables and other healthcare institutions in the KSA. Also, the lack of evidence regarding which constructs in the TPB have the strongest impact on Saudi nurses' intention to report errors must be addressed. More studies are needed to discover how subjective norms and attitude toward behavior can be enhanced among nurses. This study did not find psychological safety to be a significant predictor of reporting medication errors, and therefore, the role of psychological safety in error reporting requires additional consideration and research.

# **Implications for Nursing Education**

The findings of this study can help the stakeholders of higher education institutions understand Saudi nurses' subjective norms and attitudes toward reporting medication errors in order to assist in designing and providing continuing nursing education courses that can improve reporting practice by focusing on nurses' subjective norms, attitude toward behavior, and perceived behavioral control. Also, the KSA education system needs to build and promote psychological safety among nursing students. Nursing schools should develop simulation activities to foster nursing students' intention to report errors by highlighting factors that nursing students perceive as impacting their intention to report errors. The subjective norms construct was found to be the most significant predictor of Saudi nurses' intentions to report medication errors. Therefore, nursing education administrators and leaders should target nurses' perceived norms to achieve effective learning outcomes. The training programs should target other healthcare providers, too, because they influence nursing students' norms.
#### **Summary**

The TPB is a theoretical framework that has been used to explain and predict behavior across different fields. The findings of this study show that attitude toward behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control are predictors of Saudi nurses' behavioral intention to report medication errors, with subjective norms being the strongest of the three TPB constructs, and that the addition of the psychological safety construct did not contribute in any statistically significant way to the TPB model. The effects of the interactions between psychological safety and subject norms were found to be positive and significant, but negative between psychological safety and attitude toward behavior. No significant interaction effect was found between perceived behavioral control and psychological safety. The magnitude of each construct on nurses' intention to report medication errors varies because behavioral beliefs can vary from one population to another, and the conceptualization of behavioral outcomes varies across populations for the same behavior. The results also indicate that nurses with positive subjective norms are more inclined to report their errors when they work in a team in which they feel psychologically safe.

## APPENDIX A

## PARTICIPANT INVITATION LETTER

#### Letter of Invitation to Participate in Research

You are invited to participate in a research study. The purpose of this study is to explore factors that affect the intentions of Saudi nurses to report medication errors in two hospitals in Arar City. You are eligible to participate in this study if you have been working in medical, surgical, or intensive care units for more than six months. Participation is completely voluntary, and you may withdraw from the study at any time. The study is completely anonymous; therefore, it does not require you to provide your name or any other identifying information.

No individual's responses will be shared with hospital administration or staff. Thus, your responses will not impact your job. Participating in this study does not involve anticipated risks. The information collected may not benefit you directly, but your participation in the research will be of great importance to assist in understanding the impact of attitudes, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and psychological safety on nurses' intention to report patient safety incidents. If you would like to participate in the study, please click the survey link at the end. The survey will take approximately 10 to 15 minutes to complete. Feel free to contact me at oaldughmi@luc.edu or 0501531523 if you have questions.

### **Statement of Consent:**

Clicking on the link below indicates that you have read the information provided above, have had an opportunity to ask questions, and agree to participate in this research study. Sincerely,

Ohoud Aldughmi, RN, MSN, Doctoral Student, Loyola University of Chicago

APPENDIX B

# THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR QUESTIONNAIRE

### **Theory of Planned Behavior Questionnaire**

The following questions ask about your experience with reporting medication errors. Reporting medication errors refers to making a formal report that follows your hospital's protocol. Please answer the following questions to the best of your knowledge about medication error reporting.

A. Please check the appropriate response.

1. How many years have you been practicing nursing?

\_\_\_\_\_ 2-5 years

\_\_\_\_\_ 6-10 years

\_\_\_\_\_ More than 10 years

2. What is your highest level of nursing education?

\_\_\_\_\_ Diploma

\_\_\_\_\_ BSN

\_\_\_\_\_ MSN

\_\_\_\_\_ Doctorate

3. What is your age?

\_\_\_\_\_Under 30 years old

\_\_\_\_\_30- 39 years old

\_\_\_\_\_40-49 years old

\_\_\_\_Over 50 years old

4. What is your area of practice or unit?

\_\_\_\_\_ Medical unit

\_\_\_\_\_ Surgical unit

\_\_\_\_\_ Intensive care unit

**B**. Please choose the number that corresponds to your level of agreement with the following statements.

1. I intend to report medication errors that I may encounter.

Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
----------------------	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	-------------------

2. I will try to report medication errors that I may encounter.

Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strong Agre
Disagree								Agr

3. I plan to report medication errors that I may encounter.

Strongly	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly
Disagree	1	2	5	-	5	0	7	Agree

**C**. We would like to know how you feel about reporting medication errors. Please complete the following statement based on your level of agreement with each of the five pairs of adjectives.

4. I feel that reporting medication errors each time I encounter them is:

Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree
Worthless	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Valuable
Unpleasant	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Pleasant
Bad	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Good
Unenjoyable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Enjoyable

Harmful	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Beneficial
---------	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	------------

**D.** We are interested in the groups or individuals that would influence your willingness to report medication errors. Please choose the number that corresponds to your level of agreement with each statement.

5. Most people who are important to me think that . . .

I should not report medication errors.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	I should report medication errors.
6. The people in r	ny life w	hose opin	ions I val	ue would				
disapprove of my reporting medication errors.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	approve of my reporting medication errors.
7. It is expected o	of me that	t I should	report me	dication e	errors.			
Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree

8. I feel under social pressure from my professional colleagues.

Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Strongly Agree

**E.** Please respond to the following statements by choosing the number that corresponds to your level of agreement.

9. For me to report medication errors is . . .

extremely	1	2	3	1	5	5	7	extremely
difficult.	1	L	3	4	5	5	/	easy.

10. How much control do you believe you have over reporting medication errors that you encounter?

No								Complete
control	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	control

11. I am capable of reporting medication errors.

Strongly								Strongly
Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Agree

12. Whether or not I report medication errors is completely up to me.

Strongly								Strongly
Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Agree

APPENDIX C

PSYCHOLOGICAL SAFETY SCALE

# **Psychological Safety Scale**

Please circle a number from 1 to 5 to indicate the extent to which you disagree or agree with each statement.

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree	
If you make a mistake on this team, it is often held against you.	1	2	3	4	5	
Members of this team are able to bring up problems and tough issues.	1	2	3	4	5	
People on this team sometimes reject others for being different.	1	2	3	4	5	
It is safe to take a risk on this team.	1	2	3	4	5	
It is difficult to ask other members of this team for help.	1	2	3	4	5	
No one on this team would deliberately act in a way that undermines my efforts.	1	2	3	4	5	
Working with members of this team, my unique skills and talents are valued and utilized.	1	2	3	4	5	

### APPENDIX D

### NORMALITY ASSUMPTIONS

Figure 4. Normality Assumptions



Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residuals







Dout a

Figure 5. Scatterplots for Intention versus TPB Constructs and Psychological Safety









Figure 6. Residual Scatter Plot for Homoscedasticity Assumption



#### REFERENCE LIST

- Abror, A. (2017). *The relationship between psychological safety, self-efficacy and organisational performance: a case in Indonesian companies* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Hull).
- Ajzen, I. (1985). From intentions to actions: A theory of planned behavior. In Kuhl Julius & Beckmann Jürgen (Eds.), *Action Control* (pp. 11-39). Berlin: Springer.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179-211.
- Ajzen, I. (2002). Perceived behavioral control, self-efficacy, locus of control, and the theory of planned behavior 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *32*(4), 665-683.
- Ajzen, I. (2006). Constructing a Theory of Planned Behavior Questionnaire. http:// people.umass.edu/ajzen/pdf/tpb.measurement.pdf
- Ajzen, I. (2011). The theory of planned behaviour: Reactions and reflections. *Psychology & Health*, 26(9), 1113-1127. https://10.1080/08870446.2011.613995
- Ajzen, I. (2020). The theory of planned behavior: Frequently asked questions. *Human Behavior* and Emerging Technologies, 2(4), 314-324.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behavior. Prentice-Hall.
- Al Wahabi, S., Farahat, F., & Bahloul, A. Y. (2017). Prevalence and preventability of sentinel events in Saudi Arabia: Analysis of reports from 2012 to 2015. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, 23(492), 7.492.
- Alarfj, A. A. (2020). Barriers of Reporting Medication Errors at Arar Central Hospital, KSA: Journal of medical & pharmaceutical Sciences, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.26389/AJSRP.L111119
- Alanazi, S., Anbar, M. A. Ebad, S., Karuppayah, S., & Al-Ani, H. A. (2020). Theory-based model and prediction analysis of information security compliance behavior in the Saudi healthcare sector. *Symmetry*, 12(9), 1544.

- AlBar, A. M., & Hoque, M. R. (2019). Patient acceptance of e-health services in Saudi Arabia: An integrative perspective. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 25(9), 847-852.
- Albalawi, A., Kidd, L., & Cowey, E. (2020). Factors contributing to the patient safety culture in Saudi Arabia: A systematic review. *British medical journal Open, 10(10), e037875.*
- Al-Dossary, R. N. (2018). The Saudi Arabian 2030 vision and the nursing profession: The way forward. *International Nursing Review*, 65(4), 484-490.
- Alharbi, W., Cleland, J., & Morrison, Z. (2019). Addressing medication errors in an adult oncology department in Saudi Arabia: A qualitative study. *Saudi Pharmaceutical Society*, 27(5), 650-654.https://10.1016/j.jsps.2019.03.007
- Ali, S., Aboheimed, N. I., Al-Zaagi, I. A., & Al-Dossari, D. S. (2017). Analysis of medication errors at a large tertiary care hospital in Saudi Arabia: A retrospective analysis. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 39(5), 1004-1007.
- Aljabari, S., & Kadhim, Z. (2021). Common barriers to reporting medical errors. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2021, 1-8. https://10.1155/2021/6494889
- Aljadhey, H., Mahmoud, M. A., Ahmed, Y., Sultana, R., Zouein, S., Alshanawani, S., Mayet, A., Alshaikh, M. K., Kalagi, N., Al Tawil, E., El Kinge, A. R., Arwadi, A., Alyahya, M., Murray, M. D., & Bates, D. (2016). Incidence of adverse drug events in public and private hospitals in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: The prospective cohort study. *British medical journal Open*, 6(7), e010831.
- Al Khreem, S. M., & Al-khadher, M. (2021). Perceptions of nurses about medication errors: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Scientific Research in Medical and Biological Sciences*, 2(1), 30-41.
- Allison, P. D. (2001). *Missing Data*. SAGE Publications.
- Alluhidan, M., Tashkandi, N., Alblowi, F., Omer, T., Alghaith, T., Alghodaier, H., ... & Alghamdi, M. G. (2020). Challenges and policy opportunities in nursing in Saudi Arabia. *Human Resources for Health*, 18(1), 1-10.
- Almalki, Z. S., Alqahtani, N., Salway, N. T., Alharbi, M. M., Alqahtani, A., Alotaibi, N., Alotaibi, T. M., & Alshammari, T. (2021). Evaluation of medication error rates in Saudi Arabia: A protocol for systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*, 100(9), e24956. https://10.1097/MD.00000000024956
- Alingh, C. W., van Wijngaarden, J. D., van de Voorde, K., Paauwe, J., & Huijsman, R. (2019). Speaking up about patient safety concerns: The influence of safety management

approaches and climate on nurses' willingness to speak up. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 28(1), 39-48. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007163

- Alomi, Y. A., Al-Shubaar, N., Lubad, N., & Albusalih, F. A. (2019). Adherence assessment of medication errors reporting system at the public hospital in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Pharmacology and Clinical Sciences*, 8(2)
- Al-Otaibi, H., Al-Harbi, M. F., & Moawed, S. A. (2018). Nurses' medication errors in the pediatric emergency department in Saudi Arabia. *Middle East Journal of Nursing*, 12(1), 3-13.\_https://10.5742/MEJN.2018.93345
- AlQudehy, Z., AlSaeed, H., AlZain, N., Lawton, R., & AlQuedehy R. (2018). Barriers to sentinel events reporting in Tertiary Hospital at Dammam, Saudi Arabia. *Open Science Journal*, 3(4), 1-9.
- Alrasheedi, O., Schultz, T. J., & Harvey, G. (2021). Factors influencing nurses' intention to work in the oncology specialty: multi-institutional cross-sectional study. *BMC Palliative Care*, 20(1), 1-12.
- Al-Rayes, S. A., Aldar, F. A., Al Nasif, N. S., Alkhadrawi, Z. I., Al-Fayez, A., & Alumran, A. (2020). The use of electronic incident reporting system: Influencing factors. *Informatics in Medicine Unlocked*, 21, 100477.
- AlReshidi, A., Farajat, M., Ibrahim, T., Alresheedi, A., Elnefiely, A., & Alforaih, F. (2020). Current status and predictors of patient safety culture in hospitals of Qassim Region, Saudi Arabia. Dr.Sulaiman Al Habib Medical Journal, 2(2), 76-82.
- Alsabaani, A. A. (2020). Perceptions of patient safety culture among physicians and nurses in a tertiary hospital in southwestern Saudi Arabia. *Middle East Journal of Family Medicine*, 7(10)
- Alshahrani, S. M., Alakhali, K. M., & Al-Worafi, Y. M. (2019). Medication errors in a health care facility in southern Saudi Arabia. *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, 18(5), 1119-1122.
- Alshammari, F. M., Alanazi, E. J., Alanazi, A. M., Alturifi, A. K., & Alshammari, T. M. (2021). Medication error concept and reporting practices in Saudi Arabia: A multiregional study among healthcare professionals. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, 14, 2395.
- Alshammari, T. M., Alenzi, K. A., Alatawi, Y., Almordi, A. S., & Altebainawi, A. F. (2022). Current situation of medication errors in Saudi Arabia: A nationwide observational study. *Journal of Patient Safety*, 18(2), e448-e453.

- Alsulami, S. L., Sardidi, H. O., Almuzaini, R. S., Alsaif, M. A., Almuzaini, H. S., Moukaddem, A. K., & Kharal, M. S. (2019). Knowledge, attitude and practice on medication error reporting among health practitioners in a tertiary care setting in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 40(3), 246.
- Altalhi, N., Alnaimi, H., Chaouali, M., Alahmari, F., Alabdulkareem, N., & Alaama, T. (2021). Top four types of sentinel events in Saudi Arabia during the period 2016– 2019. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care, 33*(1), mzab026.
- Alyami, M. H., Naser, A. Y., Alswar, H. S., Alyami, H. S., Alyami, A. H., & Al Sulayyim, H. J. (2022). Medication errors in Najran, Saudi Arabia: Reporting, responsibility, and characteristics: A cross-sectional study. *Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal*.
- Angelis, A. D., Pancani, L., Steca, P., Colaceci, S., Giusti, A., Tibaldi, L., Alvaro, R., Ausili, D., & Vellone, E. (2017). Testing an explanatory model of nurses' intention to report adverse drug reactions in hospital settings. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 25(4), 307-317.
- Appelbaum, N. P., Dow, A., Mazmanian, P. E., Jundt, D. K., & Appelbaum, E. N. (2016). The effects of power, leadership and psychological safety on resident event reporting. *Medical Education*, 50(3), 343-350.
- Appelbaum, N. P., Lockeman, K. S., Orr, S., Huff, T. A., Hogan, C. J., Queen, B. A., & Dow, A. W. (2020). Perceived influence of power distance, psychological safety, and team cohesion on team effectiveness. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 34(1), 20-26.
- Archer, S., Hull, L., Soukup, T., Mayer, E., Athanasiou, T., Sevdalis, N., & Darzi, A. (2017). Development of a theoretical framework of factors affecting patient safety incident reporting: A theoretical review of the literature. *BMJ Open*, 7(12), e017155.
- Baer, M., & Frese, M. (2003). Innovation is not enough: Climates for initiative and psychological safety, process innovations, and firm performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 24(1), 45-68.
- Banakhar, M. A., Tambosi, A. I., Asiri, S. A., Banjar, Y. B., & Essa, Y. A. (2017). Barriers of reporting errors among nurses in a tertiary hospital. *International Journal of Nursing & Clinical Practices*.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191.
- Bashaireh, A. M., Jaran, M. S., Alobari, R. I., & Al-khani, S. M. (2019). Understanding the nature, contributing factors, and corrective actions of medication administration errors: Insights from Saudi Arabia. *Global Journal on Quality and Safety in Healthcare*, 2(3), 58-64.

- Bokhari, R. M. (2019). Improving patient safety and reducing medical errors in Saudi healthcare organizations. *Journal of Medical and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *3*(1).
- Byrne, B. M. (2010). Structural Equation Modeling with AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming. New York: Routledge.
- Carmeli, A. (2007). Social capital, psychological safety and learning behaviours from failure in organizations. *Long Range Planning*, 40(1), 30-44.
- Carmeli, A., Brueller, D., & Dutton, J. E. (2009). Learning behaviours in the workplace: The role of high-quality interpersonal relationships and psychological safety. Systems Research and Behavioral Science: The Official Journal of the International Federation for Systems Research, 26(1), 81-98.
- Carmeli, A., Reiter-Palmon, R., & Ziv, E. (2010). Inclusive leadership and employee involvement in creative tasks in the workplace: The mediating role of psychological safety. *Creativity Research Journal*, 22(3), 250-260.
- Casper, E. S. (2007). The theory of planned behavior applied to continuing education for mental health professionals. *Psychiatric Services*, *58*(10), 1324-1329.
- Chen, L., Wang, L., Redley, B., Hsieh, Y., Chu, T., & Han, C. (2018). A study on the reporting intention of medical incidents: A nursing perspective. *Clinical Nursing Research*, 27(5), 560-578.
- Cook, R. D. (1977). Detection of influential observation in linear regression. *Technometrics*, 19(1), 15-18.
- Catalano, A. S., Jimmieson, N. L., & Knight, A. T. (2021). Building better teams by identifying conservation professionals willing to learn from failure. *Biological Conservation*, 256, 109069.
- Devaraj, S., & Patel, P. C. (2021). Change in psychological distress in response to changes in reduced mobility during the early 2020 COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence of modest effects from the US. Social Science & Medicine, 270, 113615.
- Derickson, R., Fishman, J., Osatuke, K., Teclaw, R., & Ramsel, D. (2015). Psychological safety error and reporting within Veterans Health Administration hospitals. *Journal of Patient Safety*, *11*(1), 60-66.
- Dionisi, S., Di Simone, E., Franzoso, V., Caldarola, E., Cappadona, R., Di Muzio, F., Giannetta, N., & Di Muzio, M. (2020). The application of the Theory of Planned Behaviour to

prevent medication errors: A scoping review. *Acta Bio-Medica: Atenei Parmensis, 91*(6-S), 28-37.

- Ditching, N., Furatero, A. G., Iquiña, R. V., Sabulao, A. D., Supremo, J., & Oducado, R. M. (2020). Factors associated with nursing students' intention to report needlestick injuries: Applying the theory of planned behavior. *Nurse Media Journal of Nursing*, 10(3), 234-243.
- Doucette, J. N. (2019). Creating a safety culture. Nursing Management, 50(11), 56
- Dyab, E. A., Elkalmi, R. M., Bux, S. H., & Jamshed, S. Q. (2018). Exploration of nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and perceived barriers towards medication error reporting in a tertiary health care facility: A qualitative approach. *Pharmacy*, 6(4), 120
- Edmondson, A. (1999). Psychological safety and learning behavior in work teams. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 44(2), 350-383.
- Edmondson, A. C. (2002). *Managing the risk of learning: Psychological safety in work teams* (pp. 255-275). Cambridge, MA: Division of Research, Harvard Business School.
- Edmondson, A. C. (2019). *The Fearless Organization: Creating Psychological Safety in the Workplace for Learning, Innovation, and Growth.* John Wiley & Sons.
- Edmondson, A. C., Higgins, M., Singer, S., & Weiner, J. (2016). Understanding psychological safety in health care and education organizations: A comparative perspective. *Research in Human Development*, 13(1), 65-83.
- Edmondson, A. C., Kramer, R. M., & Cook, K. S. (2004). Psychological safety, trust, and learning in organizations: A group-level lens. *Trust and Distrust in Organizations: Dilemmas and Approaches, 12*, 239-272.
- Edmondson, A. C., & Lei, Z. (2014). Psychological safety: The history, renaissance, and future of an interpersonal construct. *Annu.Rev.Organ.Psychol.Organ.Behav.*, 1(1), 23-43.
- Ekayani, N. P., Wardhani, V., & Rachmi, A. T. (2017). Nurses' intention and behavior in reporting adverse event: Application of theory of planned behavior. *National Public Health Journal*, 11(3), 138-144.
- ElKhider, S., & Savage, B. M. (2019). Missing chances to learn: A case study of barriers to nearmiss reporting in a hospital. *Business Process Management Journal*.
- Elmontsri, M., Almashrafi, A., Banarsee, R., & Majeed, A. (2017). Status of patient safety culture in Arab countries: A systematic review. *BMJ Open*, 7(2), e013487.

- Elmontsri, M., Banarsee, R., & Majeed, A. (2018). Improving patient safety in developing countries: Moving towards an integrated approach. *JRSM Open*, 9(11).
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\* Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149-1160.
- Ferrer, M., Santa, R., Medhekar, A., Calvo, E., & Molina-Sánchez, L. P. (2018). Drivers of hospital safety culture quality in emerging economies: The case of Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management*, 23(3), 369-384.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (2011). *Predicting and Changing Behavior: The Reasoned Action Approach*. Taylor & Francis.
- Field, A. [2009], Discovering Statistics Using SPSS, Third Edition, SAGE Publications.
- Francis, J., Eccles, M. P., Johnston, M., Walker, A. E., Grimshaw, J. M., Foy, R., Kaner, E. F., Smith, L., & Bonetti, D. (2004). Constructing Questionnaires Based on the Theory of Planned Behaviour: A Manual for Health Services Researchers.
- Frazier, M. L., Fainshmidt, S., Klinger, R. L., Pezeshkan, A., & Vracheva, V. (2017). Psychological safety: A meta-analytic review and extension. *Personnel Psychology*, 70(1), 113-165.
- Ganesan, S., Sandhiya, S., Reddy, K. C., Subrahmanyam, D. K., & Adithan, C. (2017). The impact of the educational intervention on knowledge, attitude, and practice of pharmacovigilance toward adverse drug reactions reporting among health-care professionals in a tertiary care hospital in South India. *Journal of Natural Science*, *Biology, and Medicine*, 8(2), 203.
- Gavaza, P. (2010). Using the theory of planned behavior to predict Texas pharmacists' intention to report serious adverse drug events. (748312282). Doctoral dissertation. Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Gavaza, P., Brown, C. M., Lawson, K. A., Rascati, K. L., Wilson, J. P., & Steinhardt, M. (2011). Examination of pharmacists' intention to report serious adverse drug events (ADEs) to the FDA using the theory of planned behavior. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 7(4), 369-382.
- George, D., & Mallery, P. (2003). SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference. 11.0 update (4th ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

- Gilmartin, H. M., Langner, P., Gokhale, M., Osatuke, K., Hasselbeck, R., Maddox, T. M., & Battaglia, C. (2018). Relationship between psychological safety and reporting nonadherence to a safety checklist. *Journal of Nursing Care Quality*, *33*(1), 53-60.
- Grailey, K. E., Murray, E., Reader, T., & Brett, S. J. (2021). The presence and potential impact of psychological safety in the healthcare setting: An evidence synthesis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1-15.
- Guo, R., Berkshire, S. D., Fulton, L. V., & Hermanson, P. M. (2019). Predicting intention to use evidence-based management among US healthcare administrators: Application of the theory of planned behavior and structural equation modeling. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, 12(1), 25-32.
- Haider, N., & Mazhar, F. (2017). Factors associated with underreporting of adverse drug reactions by nurses: A narrative literature review. *Saudi Journal for Health Sciences*, 6(2), 71.
- Hair, J., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J. & Anderson, R. E. (2010) Canonical Correlation: A Supplement to Multivariate Data Analysis Multivariate Data Analysis: A Global Perspective (7th ed.). Educational International, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2011). PLS-SEM: Indeed a silver bullet. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 19(2), 139-152.
- Hamed, M. M. M., & Konstantinidis, S. (2022). Barriers to incident reporting among nurses: A qualitative systematic review. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 44(5), 506-523.
- Hammoudi, B. M., Ismaile, S., & Abu Yahya, O. (2018). Factors associated with medication administration errors and why nurses fail to report them. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 32(3), 1038-1046.
- Hans, S., & Gupta, R. (2018). Job characteristics affect shared leadership: The moderating effect of psychological safety and perceived self-efficacy. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*,
- Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit indices in covariance structure modeling: Sensitivity to underparameterized model misspecification. *Psychological Methods*, *3*(4), 424.
- Hung, C., Lee, B., Liang, H., & Chu, T. (2016). Factors influencing nurses' attitudes and intentions toward medication administration error reporting. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, 13(3), 345-354.

- Hunt, D. F., Bailey, J., Lennox, B. R., Crofts, M., & Vincent, C. (2021). Enhancing psychological safety in mental health services. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 15(1), 1-18.
- Ibrahim, M. A. M., Osman, O. B., & Ahmed, W. A. M. (2019). Assessment of patient safety measures in governmental hospitals in Al-Baha, Saudi Arabia. *AIMS Public Health*, *6*(4), 396.
- Ibrahim, N. K., Algethmi, W. A., Binshihon, S. M., Almahyawi, R. A., Alahmadi, R. F., & Baabdullah, M. Y. (2017). Predictors and correlations of emotional intelligence among medical students at King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, 33(5), 1080.
- IBM Corp. (2021). IBM SPSS Statistics for Mac (Version 28.0).
- Institute of Medicine, & Committee on Quality of Health Care in America. (2000). In Kohn L. T., Corrigan J. M. and Donaldson M. S. (Eds.), *To Err Is Human: Building a Safer Health System*. National Academies Press.
- Institute of Medicine (2004). *Keeping Patients Safe: Transforming the Work Environment of Nurses*. The National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- Ito, A., Sato, K., Yumoto, Y., Sasaki, M., & Ogata, Y. (2022). A concept analysis of psychological safety: Further understanding for application to health care. *Nursing Open*, 9(1), 467-489.
- Javadi, M., Kadkhodaee, M., Yaghoubi, M., Maroufi, M., & Shams, A. (2013). Applying theory of planned behavior in predicting of patient safety behaviors of nurses. *Materia Socio-Medica*, 25(1), 52.
- Kahn, W. A. (1990). Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work. *Academy of Management Journal*, *33*(4), 692-724.
- Kark, R., & Carmeli, A. (2009). Alive and creating: The mediating role of vitality and aliveness in the relationship between psychological safety and creative work involvement. *Journal* of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior, 30(6), 785-804.
- Kessel, M., Kratzer, J., & Schultz, C. (2012). Psychological safety, knowledge sharing, and creative performance in healthcare teams. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 21(2), 147-157.
- Kim, H. Y. (2013). Statistical notes for clinical researchers: Assessing normal distribution using skewness and kurtosis. *Restorative Dentistry & Endodontics*, 38(1), 52-54.

- Kim, S. M., Kim, M. J., & Jo, S. J. (2021). The relationships between perceived team psychological safety, transactive memory system, team learning behavior and team performance among individual team members. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*.
- Ko, Y., & Yu, S. (2017). The relationships among perceived patients' safety culture, intention to report errors, and leader coaching behavior of nurses in Korea: A pilot study. *Journal of Patient Safety*, 13(3), 175-183.
- Korhan, E. A., Dilemek, H., Mercan, S., & Yilmaz, D. U. (2017). Determination of attitudes of nurses in medical errors and related factors. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 10(2), 794-801.
- Kostovich, C. T., O'Rourke, J., & Stephen, L. (2020). Establishing psychological safety in simulation: Faculty perceptions. *Nurse Education Today*, *91*, 104468.
- Lapkin, S., Levett-Jones, T., & Gilligan, C. (2015). Using the Theory of Planned Behaviour to examine health professional students' behavioural intentions in relation to medication safety and collaborative practice. *Nurse Education Today; Nurse Educ Today, 35*(8), 935-940. https://10.1016/j.nedt.2015.03.018
- Lee, S. E., & Dahinten, V. S. (2021). Psychological safety as a mediator of the relationship between inclusive leadership and nurse voice behaviors and error reporting. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*.
- Lee, S. E., Scott, L. D., Dahinten, V. S., Vincent, C., Lopez, K. D., & Park, C. G. (2019). Safety culture, patient safety, and quality of care outcomes: A literature review. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 41(2), 279-304.
- Lee, S. E., Vincent, C., Dahinten, V. S., Scott, L. D., Park, C. G., & Dunn Lopez, K. (2018). Effects of individual nurse and hospital characteristics on patient adverse events and quality of care: A multilevel analysis. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 50(4), 432-440.
- Lee, S., & Vincent, C. (2021). Analysis and evaluation of the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 44(4), E127-E140.
- Lee, Y., Yang, C., & Chen, T. (2016). Barriers to incident-reporting behavior among nursing staff: A study based on the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 22(1), 1.
- Leroy, H., Dierynck, B., Anseel, F., Simons, T., Halbesleben, J. R., McCaughey, D., ... & Sels, L. (2012). Behavioral integrity for safety, priority of safety, psychological safety, and patient safety: A team-level study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(6), 1273.

- Maher, A., Monfared, M., & Jafari, M. (2019). The relationship between safety management and patient safety culture in cancer treatment centers. *Asian Pacific Journal of Environment and Cancer*, 2(1), 11-16.
- Mahmoud, M. A., Ibrahim, A. A. M., & Alolayan, S. O. (2020). Medication safety issues in four lower middle-income countries of Northern and Eastern Africa: Challenges and recommendations. *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, 11(11), 482-486.
- Mahmoud, M. A., Ahmad, S. B., & Poespowidjojo, D. A. L. (2022). Validation of the psychological safety, psychological empowerment, intrapreneurial behaviour and individual performance measurements. *Management Journal*, *57*, 219-234.
- Mahrous, M. S. (2018). Patient safety culture as a quality indicator for a safe health system: Experience from Almadinah Almunawwarah, KSA. *Journal of Taibah University Medical Sciences*, 13(4), 377-383.
- Mansouri, S. F., Mohammadi, T. K., Adib, M., Lili, E. K., & Soodmand, M. (2019). Barriers to nurses reporting errors and adverse events. *British Journal of Nursing*, 28(11), 690-695.
- Microsoft Corporation. (2022). Microsoft Excel. https://office.microsoft.com/excel
- McClintock, A. H., & Fainstad, T. (2022). Growth, engagement, and belonging in the clinical learning environment: The role of psychological safety and the work ahead. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 1-6.
- Moon, S. Y., & Kim, K. J. (2017). Exploring the influence of nurse work environment and patient safety culture on attitudes toward incident reporting. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 47(9), 434-440. https://10.1097/NNA.00000000000510
- Munn, L. T. (2016). *Team dynamics and learning behavior in hospitals: a study of error reporting by nurses.* Doctoral dissertation, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.
- Mutair, A. A., Alhumaid, S., Shamsan, A., Zaidi, A. R. Z., Mohaini, M. A., Al Mutairi, A., Rabaan, A. A., Awad, M., & Al-Omari, A. (2021). Effective strategies to avoid medication errors and improving reporting systems. *Medicines*, 8(9), 46.
- Natan, M. B., Sharon, I., Mahajna, M., & Mahajna, S. (2017). Factors affecting nursing students' intention to report medication errors: An application of the theory of planned behavior. *Nurse Education Today*, 58, 38-42.
- National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention (2020). https://www.nccmerp.org/about-medication-errors

- Nelson, J. M., Cook, P. F., & Ingram, J. C. (2014). Utility of the theory of planned behavior to predict nursing staff blood pressure monitoring behaviours. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 23(3-4), 461-470.
- Nembhard, I. M., & Edmondson, A. C. (2006). Making it safe: The effects of leader inclusiveness and professional status on psychological safety and improvement efforts in health care teams. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 27(7), 941-966.
- Naveh, E., & Katz-Navon, T. (2014). Antecedents of willingness to report medical treatment errors in health care organizations. *Health Care Management Review*, *39*(1), 21-30.
- Newman, A., Donohue, R., & Eva, N. (2017). Psychological safety: A systematic review of the literature. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(3), 521-535.
- Nkurunziza, A., Chironda, G., Mukeshimana, M., Uwamahoro, M. C., Umwangange, M. L., & Ngendahayo, F. (2019). Factors contributing to medication administration errors and barriers to self-reporting among nurses: A review of literature. *Rwanda Journal of Medicine and Health Sciences*, 2(3), 294-303.
- O'donovan, R., & Mcauliffe, E. (2020). A systematic review of factors that enable psychological safety in healthcare teams. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, *32*(4), 240-250.
- O'Donovan, R., De Brún, A., & McAuliffe, E. (2021). Healthcare professionals experience of psychological safety, voice, and silence. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 626689.
- O'Donovan, R., Van Dun, D., & McAuliffe, E. (2020). Measuring psychological safety in healthcare teams: Developing an observational measure to complement survey methods. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 20(1), 1-17.
- Ozeke, O., Ozeke, V., Coskun, O., & Budakoglu, I. I. (2019). Second victims in health care: Current perspectives. *Advances in Medical Education and Practice*, *10*, 593.
- Qualtrics, (2022), retrieved from https://www.qualtrics.com.
- Rahman, R. (2020). The privatization of health care system in Saudi Arabia. *Health Services Insights*, 13, 1178632920934497.
- Ramalho, M. C. K., & Porto, J. B. (2021). Validity evidence of the team psychological safety survey. *Psico-USF*, *26*, 165-176.
- Remtulla, R., Hagana, A., Houbby, N., Ruparell, K., Aojula, N., Menon, A., Thavarajasingam, S. G., & Meyer, E. (2021). Exploring the barriers and facilitators of psychological safety in primary care teams: A qualitative study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1-12.

- Rich, A., Medisauskaite, A., Potts, H. W., & Griffin, A. (2020). A theory-based study of doctors' intentions to engage in professional behaviours. *BMC Medical Education*, 20(1), 1-10.
- Rogers, J. W., Fleming, M., Tipton, J., Ward, A., Garey, K. W., & Pitman, E. P. (2017). Investigating inpatient medication administration using the theory of planned behavior. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74(24), 2065-2070.
- Rogers, W. T. (2020). *Converting threats into opportunities predicting medical error reporting behavior*. Doctoral dissertation, University of Louisville.
- Roh, Y. S., Jang, K. I., & Issenberg, S. B. (2021). Nursing students' perceptions of simulation design features and learning outcomes: The mediating effect of psychological safety. *Collegian*, 28(2), 184-189.
- Rutledge, D. N., Retrosi, T., & Ostrowski, G. (2018). Barriers to medication error reporting among hospital nurses. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(9-10), 1941-1949.
- Saleh, A. A., & Barnard, A. (2019). Barriers facing nurses in reporting medication administration errors in Saudi Arabia. *American Journal of Nursing*, 7(4), 598-625.
- Salami, S., & Alhalal, E. (2020). Nurses' intention to report child abuse in Saudi Arabia: A cross-sectional study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 106, 104514.
- Samsiah, A., Othman, N., Jamshed, S., & Hassali, M. A. (2020). Knowledge, perceived barriers and facilitators of medication error reporting: A quantitative survey in Malaysian primary care clinics. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 42(4), 1118-1127.
- Scheepers, R. A., van den Goor, M., Arah, O. A., Heineman, M. J., & Lombarts, K. M. (2018). Physicians' perceptions of psychological safety and peer performance feedback. *Journal* of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 38(4), 250-254.
- Schein, E., & Bennis, W. G. (1965). *Personal and Organizational Change through Group Methods: The Laboratory Approach.* New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.
- Song, Y., Peng, P., & Yu, G. (2020). I would speak up to live up to your trust: The role of psychological safety and regulatory focus. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 2966.
- Soola, A. H., Ajri-Khameslou, M., Mirzaei, A., & Bahari, Z. (2021). Identifying predictors of patient safety competency based on teamwork and psychological safety among emergency nurses. DOI: https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1050803/v1

- Steinmetz, H., Knappstein, M., Ajzen, I., Schmidt, P., & Kabst, R. (2016). How effective are behavior change interventions based on the theory of planned behavior? *Zeitschrift Für Psychologie*,
- Stühlinger, M., Schmutz, J. B., Grote, G., Nicca, D., & Flury, D. (2021). To get vaccinated or not? Psychological safety as a catalyst for the alignment between individual beliefs and behavior. *Group & Organization Management*, 46(1), 38-69.
- Tabachnick, B. G., Fidell, L. S., & Ullman, J. B. (2007). Using Multivariate Statistics. Pearson Boston, MA.
- Tabak, N., & Fleishman, S. (2011). The intention to report medication error. Med. & L., 30, 363.
- Tai, B. W. B., Hata, M., Wu, S., Frausto, S., & Law, A. V. (2016). Prediction of pharmacist intention to provide medication disposal education using the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 22(5), 653-661.
- Tavousi, M., Hidarnia, A. R., Montazeri, A., Hajizadeh, E., Taremain, F., & Ghofranipour, F. (2009). Are perceived behavioral control and self-efficacy distinct constructs? *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 30(1), 146-152.
- Tondo, J. C. A., & Guirardello, E. d. B. (2017). Perception of nursing professionals on patient safety culture. *Revista Brasileira De Enfermagem*, 70, 1284-1290.
- Triplett, S. M., & Loh, J. M. (2018). The moderating role of trust in the relationship between work locus of control and psychological safety in organisational work teams. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 70(1), 76-84.
- Tucker, A. L., Nembhard, I. M., & Edmondson, A. C. (2007). Implementing new practices: An empirical study of organizational learning in hospital intensive care units. *Management Science*, 53(6), 894-907.
- Turner, S., & Harder, N. (2018). Psychological safe environment: A concept analysis. Clinical Simulation in Nursing, 18, 47-55.
- Urbach, N., & Ahlemann, F. (2010). Structural equation modeling in information systems research using partial least squares. *Journal of Information Technology Theory and Application*, 11(2), 5-40.
- Wakefield, J. G., McLaws, M., Whitby, M., & Patton, L. (2010). Patient safety culture: Factors that influence clinician involvement in patient safety behaviours, *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 19(6), 585-591.

- Williams, S. D., Phipps, D. L., & Ashcroft, D. (2015). Examining the attitudes of hospital pharmacists to reporting medication safety incidents using the theory of planned behaviour. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 27(4), 297-304.
- Woodman, A., Waheed, K. B., Rasheed, M., & Ahmad, S. (2022). Current state of ethical challenges reported in Saudi Arabia: A systematic review & bibliometric analysis from 2010 to 2021. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 23(1), 82.
- World Health Organization (2019). *Patient Safety*. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/patient-safety
- Yami, A. (2015). Using the Theory of Planned Behaviour to explore the intentions of a multicultural nursing workforce to comply with policies and procedures in the Prince Sultan Military Medical City (PSMMC). Doctoral dissertation, University of Southampton.
- Yousef, A., Abu Farha, R., & Da'meh, K. (2021). Medication administration errors: Causes and reporting behaviours from nurses' perspectives. *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, 75(10), e1454.
- Zhang, X., Li, Q., Guo, Y., & Lee, S. (2019). From organisational support to second victimrelated distress: Role of patient safety culture. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 27(8), 1818-1825.
- Zhang, Y., Fang, Y., Wei, K.-K., & Chen, H. (2010). Exploring the role of psychological safety in promoting the intention to continue sharing knowledge in virtual communities. *International Journal of Information Management*, 30(5), 425-436.

### VITA

Dr. Ohoud Aldughmi was born and raised in Arar City, Saudi Arabia. Before attending Loyola University Chicago, she attended Aljouf University in Saudi Arabia, where she earned a bachelor's degree in nursing. In 2015, she attended Indiana University of Pennsylvania, where she earned a Master of Nursing degree. Dr. Ohoud's research interests are patient safety and quality care. This work will be the foundation for future research.